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HWI is an inspirational Australian company, 
enriching lives worldwide, by creating  innovative, 
empowering lifestyle tools that give our 
customers the confidence to surprise and delight 
every day.

Our cOre values 
Responsibility and personal accountability.

Empowering our people and supporting our 
communities.

Our stake holders are entitled to added value.

Championing the customer.
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“...an encouraging year as an organisation 
focused on our core Electrical and 
International business. In good financial 
shape on a sturdy foundation...”

Financial results - 2008

Group sales deceased by $12.6m as a result of a net $65.1m 
reduction in Australian homewares sales following its 2007 
disposal. More importantly, sales of our now core Electrical 
and International continuing operations increased by $52.5m or 
14.1%.

Following a strong first half, the group did, as with the rest of 
the industry, experience a retail slow-down in the second half as 
global economic uncertainty and volatility increased.

The Australian market remained extremely competitive, 
intensifying during the first quarter of the 2008 calendar year. 
Market share overall remained stable during the year, increasing 
towards the end of the period. 

In Australian dollar terms, International sales increased by a 
pleasing 27.9% driven primarily by Breville product which has 
continued to achieve good growth in the Export, USA and 
Canadian markets. The strength of the Australian dollar relative 
to the USD during the period had a negative translation effect on 
International USD denominated sales and earnings. Excluding 
Canada which was only consolidated in the second half of the 
2007 financial year, International sales increased by 25.3% in 
USD terms.

Significant cost increases from our overseas suppliers from 
escalating commodity prices, increased manufacturing costs, 
an appreciating Chinese Renminbi as well as a reduction in 
China export grants all contributed towards margin pressures. 
Fortunately in Australia, which forms a significant share of group 
revenue, the strength of the Australian dollar in part offset these 
increases. International USD denominated trading did not enjoy 
such benefit. Recent price increases have been implemented to 
offset in part these cost increases.

Underlying group profit after tax (PAT) for 2008 increased by 
80.2% to $20.9m. A significant component of this increase 
was the unrepeated 2007 loss of the now disposed Australian 
homewares business.

Importantly, reported PAT for the continuing operations 
increased by 24.6% to $21.0m.

Net borrowings at financial year end were $43.3m, $28.6m lower 
than the prior year. Gearing, being net borrowings to capital 
employed, decreased further to a conservative 24.8%. Interest 
cover at year end increased to 6.9 times compared to 3.9 times 
at the end of the previous year. New improved banking facilities 
were entered into during the period. Overall, the group has a 
strong financial foundation to support its business particularly 
during uncertain economic times.

A total dividend of 10.5 cents per share was declared versus a 
group EPS of 16.5 cents per share.

Last year I reported the execution of important strategic steps 
in refocusing the group on its core Electrical and International 
business. I am pleased to report this year that the benefits of 
these strategic decisions have begun to emerge with a worthy 
and encouraging performance for the 2008 financial year.

chairMan’s

review
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review of operations... the strategy continues

One of our previously stated core objectives - to grow the 
International business - is beginning to bear fruit with 
International sales now representing more than half of 
the group’s sales and earnings. In line with this ongoing 
transformation and an intense product and customer focus, 
the group intends to:

grow its share in a relatively mature Australian market; and

grow sustainable sales and earnings in International markets, 
both in current and new geographies through:

continued investment in its core brands, especially Breville; 

innovation into new products and enhancing category 
depth by leveraging technology, knowledge and supplier 
partnerships; and

continued important infrastructure investment in 
management, IT and supply chain to meet the growing 
needs and demands of this increasingly global business.

Management and board

Our previous Group CEO, Paul Hill resigned towards the end 
of the financial year. On behalf of the board, we would like to 
extend our thanks to Paul for his input and direction.

Following an extensive executive search, I am pleased to 
announce the appointment of Stephen Audsley as Group 
CEO. In addition to Stephen meeting our key requirements of 
not only strong leadership, strategic and executional skills, he 
also has extensive and disciplined operating and marketing 
experience in branded consumer goods. We welcome Stephen 
to our company and look forward to his leading a talented and 
enthusiastic team in leveraging the many exciting opportunities 
that our business has before it.

•

•

•

•

•

Financial summary Group Continuing Electrical and International

$ millions except where indicated June 08 June 07 June 08 June 07

Sales revenue 425.8 438.4 425.3 372.8

Underlying* EBITDA 37.1 25.4 37.4 34.7

Underlying* net profit after tax 20.9 11.6 21.0 19.9

Underlying* earnings per share (cents) 16.5 9.3 16.6 16.0

Gearing ratio (%) 24.8 38.0 - -

Interest cover (times) 6.9 3.9 - -

*before significant items

A luscious 100% fruit smoothie, 
called a Froojie™, from the

Professional 800 Collection™ 
Juice Processor
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The company also announced a number of changes to the 
board of directors during the year:

John McConnell who had been a non-executive director of the 
company since it listed in 1990 resigned. We would again like 
to thank John for his dedicated service to the company over 
many years. 

Dean Howell and Samuel Weiss joined the board as 
independent non-executive directors, bringing with them a 
wealth of commercial experience. We welcome them both.

conclusion

The focus of the group is now firmly on the path of realising 
the benefits of focusing on its core activity, the Electrical 
and International business. The management team and 
all employees have embraced this opportunity and are 
increasingly unified in clarity, vision and direction. 

A solid 2008 financial performance and robust key financial 
measures has placed the group in good shape on a sturdy 
foundation which will be especially important during a period of 
continuing global uncertainty and falling consumer confidence.

In line with our on-going strategy, we continue to invest in our 
brands, especially Breville, the development and training of our 
employees, our world class development and innovation centre 
in Sydney and the important increased exposure to the global 
market.

Finally, I would like to thank my board colleagues, our dedicated 
management and staff, business partners and investors for their 
continued support.

•

•

continuing electrical and international
sales

54%
internatiOnal

46%
australia

48%
internatiOnal

52%
australia

2008 2007

51%
internatiOnal

49%
australia

52%
australia

48%
internatiOnal

continuing electrical and international
underlying eBitDa*

2008 2007

*Corporate EBITDA allocated on the basis of sales revenue

John Schmoll

Non-executive chairman

chairMan’s

review



�

HWI’s platform for future growth is the strength and health of its 
portfolio of brands. The Breville brand continues to strengthen 
in the Australasian and International markets. The Kambrook, 
Philips and Ronson brands remain strong in the Australasian 
market and provide HWI a well-balanced mix of brands, each 
with its own well defined position across differing price segments 
of the small domestic appliance (SDA) market. 

A 2008 independent market research study by Millward Brown 
reaffirmed prior year research that HWI includes three of the top 
four brands in the Australian SDA market in its stable. Breville 
improved its position in aided brand awareness and is now 
clearly the industry’s most recognised name, with Kambrook 
and Philips securing the third and fourth positions respectively.

HWI’s share of the SDA market remained stable to that of the 
prior year. HWI is clearly the largest player in the total Australian 
SDA market.

The Breville brand remains the flagship of the group, retaining 
its strong positioning in Australasia, and continuing to grow 
aggressively in international markets. In Australia, Breville 
finished the fiscal year as the No. 1 brand in value in thirteen 
different SDA categories (source: GfK value) and is the clear 
market leader in New Zealand. Breville also launched its 
Waltzing Matilda 75th anniversary T.V. commercial in October 
2007, further strengthening the brand’s total equity. 

In North America, the Breville brand enjoyed impressive growth, 
resulting in increased market share in key categories, and 
increased awareness of the Breville brand. Having launched 
in North America in 2003, the brand’s awareness among 
consumers is coming off a low base, but continues to grow 
as sales and distribution increase, supported by aggressive 
investment in brand marketing. Paid advertising has been 
supported by extensive P.R. activity, perhaps the highlight of 
which was three separate unpaid endorsements by Oprah 
Winfrey on the Oprah show. Breville is positioned as one of the 
premium brands in the North American market, with Breville’s 
Australian innovation, design and quality demanding a significant 
price premium compared to competitors and is well positioned 
for ongoing growth in brand equity.

The Breville brand also grew into other markets in the financial 
year through relationships with distributors and retailers. 
Breville’s existing position was strengthened in South Africa, 
Mexico and Israel, both growing sales and exposure of the brand. 
New international markets are being investigated to further grow 
the strength of the Breville brand globally. 

Complement your kitchen with Breville’s 
Professional 800 Collection™ 

Variable Temperature Kettle & 4 Slice Electronic Toaster
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Kambrook continues to hold its place as the number three brand 
in the Australian SDA market in brand awareness and the fourth 
biggest brand in total market share. Along with Ronson, which 
recently launched an exciting new range on a selective basis 
within Australia and New Zealand, Kambrook gives HWI brands 
with strong equity and quality assurance that can aggressively 
pursue opportunities at more moderate price points at the 
same time as defending Breville’s more premium positioning. 
Kambrook’s new packaging and website have been received 
well by consumers and retailers alike, and the results of its re-
launch into electric blankets was pleasing. The Kambrook brand 
will continue its proud history of innovation in 2008 with the 
launch of an exciting range of products. 

The Philips brand has continued to strengthen its market share, 
maintaining number one positioning and achieving record share 
in men’s shavers, and now being only a few percentage points 
away from number one in irons (source GfK value).

HWI’s distribution partnership with Philips has gone from 
strength to strength with Philips being awarded 2007 Personal 
Care Supplier of The Year by the industry at the annual GfK ERA 
awards. 

Keep the family warm with a 
Snugasabug® Electric Blanket

The arcitec shaver.

Designed to conquer 
the neck.

Kambrook has also grown its business with its retailer partner 
in South Africa and continues to look for more opportunities in 
the Export market. In both Australasia and internationally, the 
prospect of a brand with coordinated product development and a 
strong quality guarantee is increasingly being seen as a preferred 
option to private label by both retailers and consumers. 

BranD anD Market

position
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Our cOMMitMent tO

innovation and growth
engineering and manufacturing development

Over the last eighteen months the manufacturing environment 
for small domestic appliances (SDA) has changed significantly. 
Rising commodity prices and increased labour and infrastructure 
costs have placed enormous stress on the SDA industry 
worldwide resulting in a rationalisation within the industry.

While some of these market changes have also impacted HWI, 
our long term approach to investment in innovation, design and 
engineering has allowed us to continue to develop, launch and 
supply successful new products that are innovative, appealing 
and provide added value to our customers.

This past year has again seen a further growth in demand for 
our designed products within our brand markets of Australia/NZ 
and North America, as well as through our growing international 
distribution network. HWI’s continuing commitment to invest in 
our own design, engineering, quality and manufacturing support 
structure to generate global growth has provided additional 
strength within our business, not only to support the development 
of new product categories but to assist in minimising cost 
increases through product design within existing product lines.

HWI continues to recruit, train and retain highly skilled engineers 
and project managers who collaborate in the development 
process from initial feasibility through to delivery. We continue 
to forge strong partnerships with key suppliers by providing 
them with design engineering and quality expertise. The past 
12 months has also seen our engineering and manufacturing 
support capability strengthened both within our Australian R&D 
headquarters and overseas to better support our manufacturing 
partnerships and improve our production and delivery services 
to our customers.

Our multi-tiered approach to managing product development 
has also allowed us to leverage our established product 
sourcing, engineering and design capability to find new supply 
opportunities and then create new, value added product lines. 

Coupled with our commitment to innovation and design we 
believe that our improved engineering and manufacturing 
support capability will allow HWI to adapt to the changing 
market environment.

innovation and design

innovation culture

At HWI we have a strong history of innovation with such products 
as the scissor action sandwich maker, the whole fruit juicer, the 
domestic sandwich press and the health grill.

strategy

Our ongoing strategy is to differentiate our product through 
consumer understanding, innovation and development capability. 
We believe this gives us a strong competitive advantage in 
delivering products to meet the needs of consumers.

Development capability – investment for growth

We have continued to invest in our development capability to 
provide design and innovation for the global market, supporting 
growth by:

entering new categories and markets - for example single serve 
coffee machines for North America; and

expanding and developing existing product ranges - for 
example kettles, juicers, espresso machines.

We use our development capability to increase value to the 
consumer through relevant features, performance and design. 
In this way we are able, over time, to increase the value of a 
category by launching higher value products.

Balanced development portfolio

Our development group is now able to tailor specialised skills to 
specific development needs. In order to manage growth and risk 
of our development portfolio we create a mix of high innovation 
projects and general category expansion projects. We do this by 
varying the complexity and timing of these projects to maximise 
the return potential of the entire programme.

intellectual property

As innovation of features, performance and technology is an 
integral part of our strategy, we continue to invest in ownership 
of intellectual property through patents in international markets. 
This allows us to protect and leverage our investment in 
development by ensuring these features remain unique to our 
brands.

•

•

Professional 800 Collection™ Grill; 
World’s first, Grill Lock Mechanism - use 

as a contact grill or an open BBQ grill
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australian Design awards (aDa) 
(standards australia); 
australian Design Mark

2008 - BBL800 Professional 800 Collection™ Blender

2008 - BTA820 & BTA840 Professional 800 Collection™ 
 Toaster

2008 - BKT500 ikon™ Toaster & Kettle

international housewares association, 
new York - Best in category, 
kitchen electrics

2008 - BBL800 Professional 800 
 Collection™ Blender

international housewares 
association, new York 
- Best of industry

2008 - BBL800 Professional 800 
 Collection™ Blender

international housewares 
association, new York - 
shortlist

2008 - BKC600XL Gourmet 
 Single Cup Brewer 

German reD DOt Design award

2008 - BES400 ikon™ Espresso Machine

2008 - BTA820 & BTA840 Professional 800 Collection™ 
 Toaster

German iF Design award

2008 - BTA820 & BTA840 Professional 800 Collection™ 
 Toaster

2008 - BES820 Professional 800 Collection™ 
 Espresso Machine

German iF Design 
GOlD award

2008 - BES820 Professional 
 800 Collection™ 
 Espresso Machine

Breville DesiGn

accolades
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australia and new Zealand

The Australian and New Zealand businesses remain relatively 
healthy with consistent market share and profitable performance. 
HWI’s mix of the Breville, Philips, Kambrook and Ronson 
brands gives it an array of powerful brands spread across 
diverse market positions and product categories. Breville saw 
strong improvements in the number and quality of new product 
releases in the financial year, combined with better coordination 
in consumer marketing activity translating to solid improvements 
in overall brand health. 

HWI enjoys a strong product offering and a breadth of brands 
and categories to hedge against changing consumer purchase 
patterns. 

north america

North America continued to show growth in sales through new 
product launches, market share growth in existing categories, 
and wider distribution. The Breville brand continues to grow 
in both brand awareness and equity, supported by creative 
marketing and P.R. activities and investments in consumer 
advertising. The North American housewares business faced 
challenging market conditions, with an increased move by 
retailers to direct sourcing out of China, and a slow down in 
the economy driven by high oil prices and a depressed housing 
market. 

In the Electrical business, sales growth through gains in market 
share and new distribution channels outstripped declines in 
the overall retail sector. Increasing costs out of China, as well 
as a volatile USD have meant that margins require careful 
management. 

Other international markets

The Breville brand continues to grow in international markets. 
HWI’s European partners continue to purchase HWI developed 
products marketed under their own brands in Europe, with 
several new markets having being opened during the year. The 
combination of clever ideas and sophisticated industrial design 
has struck a chord in many parts of Europe and HWI’s strong 
performance in the international market looks set to continue. 

Our cOre

markets
the environment

As an organisation distributing consumable goods primarily 
of an electrical nature, HWI recognises its need to act as an 
industry leader in environmental and social concerns. HWI 
believes passionately that an organisation should contribute 
more than financial results alone, and is determined to reduce 
HWI’s impact on the environment while increasing its social 
contribution by working on several initiatives.

social responsibility

HWI endeavours to work with manufacturing partners in China 
that adhere to high social and ethical standards in regards to 
employment conditions for workers. 

2008 will mark the third consecutive year that Breville has 
sponsored the Young Designer of the Year Award, with 
Breville designers and engineers volunteering teaching and 
judging time, as well as educational materials, all of which are 
now incorporated into several university curriculums around 
Australia. HWI aims to help grow the depth and quality of design 
and engineering talent in Australia that will ultimately benefit 
Australian industry for generations to come. 

The secret of Breville’s 
ikon™ Blender, 

is it’s superior Kinetix™ Blade 
and Bowl System 

sustainaBilitY anD sOcial

responsibility
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The board of directors of Housewares International Limited (HWI or company) 
has pleasure in submitting its report in respect of the year ended 30 June 2008.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BOaRD Of DIRECTORS

The names and details of the company’s directors in office 
during the year and until the date of this report are as follows. 
Directors were in office for this entire period unless indicated 
otherwise.

John Schmoll 

Non-executive chairman, 
B.Com, FCA, FAICD

Mr Schmoll is a former Chief Financial Officer of Coles Myer 
Limited. He has an extensive career in retail and distribution 
services including that of Finance Director with the Edgars 
Group, South Africa’s largest apparel and household goods 
retailer. Mr Schmoll is currently Principal of John Schmoll and 
Associates, specialising in corporate advisory and executive 
support services.

During the last three years he has served as a director of the 
following other listed companies:

AWB Limited (since March 2005)*
Australian Leisure and Hospitality Limited
OrotonGroup Ltd (since November 2005)*
Chandler Macleod Ltd (since December 2005)*

 *denotes current directorship

Steven fisher

Non-executive director,  
B.ACC, CA(SA)

Mr Fisher has more than 20 years experience in general 
management positions in the wholesale consumer goods 
industry and is currently general manager of the Voyager 
Group. Mr Fisher is chairman of the audit and risk committee.

During the last three years he has not served as a director of 
any other listed company.

Dean Howell - appointed 31 March 2008

Non-executive director,  
FCA, FTIA

Mr Howell has had an extensive career in accounting, spanning 
some 40 years, and accordingly, has a wealth of commercial 
and advisory experience. He was the former senior partner 
of Horwath Melbourne, now known as BDO Kendalls, and 
also served on the Australian and International Boards of 
Horwath. He is currently a consultant with BDO Kendalls. 
He is also a director of Peter MacCallum Cancer Foundation 
Ltd, and a member of that Foundation’s appeals and finance 
committees.

During the last three years he has not served as a director of 
any other listed company.

•
•
•
•

Steven Klein

Non-executive director,  
LLB, B.Com

Mr Klein has had extensive legal experience in mergers and 
acquisitions, capital raisings, and public company takeovers. 
Mr Klein has been a partner of Arnold Bloch Leibler since 
1996.

During the last three years he has not served as a director of 
any other listed company.

Samuel Weiss - appointed 31 March 2008

Non-executive director,  
AB, Harvard University; MS, Columbia Business School; 
FAICD

Mr Weiss had a long corporate career in the United States, 
Europe and Australia with leading consumer brand companies 
such as Nike, Gateway computers and Sheridan. He devotes 
considerable time and energy to education, the arts and 
disadvantaged communities through his work as a past 
President of the Harvard Club of Australia, Vice President 
of The Benevolent Society and as a director of The Sydney 
Festival.

During the last three years he has served as a director of the 
following other listed companies:

Altium Limited*
GLG Corp Limited*
OrotonGroup Ltd*
IPGA Limited*

 *denotes current directorship

Joseph Hersch - retired 30 September 2007

Managing director, 
CA(SA)

Mr Hersch was managing director of the HWI group until his 
retirement on 30 September 2007. He has over twenty years 
experience in the consumer products industry in Australia.

During the last three years he has not served as a director of 
any other listed company.

John McConnell - resigned 31 March 2008

Non-executive director,  
B.Com, FAICD, FAIM, F.Fin

Mr McConnell has had over 35 years experience in banking 
and finance with ANZ Banking Group in Australia, New 
Zealand, the United Kingdom and has held various board 
positions within that group.

During the last three years he has served as a director of the 
following other listed companies:

Equity Trustees Limited (since January 2002)*
HarvestRoad Limited (Chairman) (since March 2005)*
ASG Group Ltd (since November 2005)*

 *denotes current directorship

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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COMPany SECRETaRIES

The names and details of the company’s company secretaries 
in office during the year and until the date of this report are 
as follows. Company secretaries were in office for this entire 
period unless indicated otherwise.

Shiraz Khan - appointed 28 September 2007

B.Bus, CPA

Mr Khan has been the company secretary since 28 September 
2007. He is a certified practicing accountant and has over 
19 years experience in senior finance roles in a number of 
manufacturing and consumer products companies in Australia 
and New Zealand.

Paul Milburn - resigned 28 September 2007

B.Sc(Hons), CA

Mr Milburn is a chartered accountant with over 20 years 
experience in senior commercial finance roles, including 17 
years with the Breville group.

REPORTIng CuRREnCy anD ROunDIng

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollar 
($’000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to 
the company under ASIC class order 98/0100. The company 
is an entity to which the class order applies.

PRInCIPaL aCTIvITIES

During the year, the principal activities of the consolidated 
entity were the innovation, development, marketing and 
distribution of small electrical appliances and homewares 
in the consumer products industry. The consolidated entity 
operated in the principal markets of Australia, the United 
States of America, Canada, New Zealand and Hong Kong.

COMPany OvERvIEW

The underlying strategic intent of the company is a stated 
commitment to innovative product development, to drive sales 
growth in Australia and the broader international market. In line 
with this intent, the company has:

built and staffed a world class product development 
centre in Sydney;
maintained an efficient procurement and quality assurance 
centre in Hong Kong;
employed experienced marketing and sales executives in 
its key markets around the world; and
maintained effective administration processes to 
support growth initiatives on an international platform. 

•

•

•

•

PERfORManCE InDICaTORS

Management and the board monitor the financial performance 
of the company by measuring actual results against 
expectations, as developed through an annual business 
planning and budgeting process.

Appropriate key performance indicators (KPI’s) are used 
to monitor operating performance and management 
effectiveness.

REvIEW Of OPERaTIOnS

In the 2008 financial year the company’s energies were 
focused on Electrical and International; the core 
competencies.

The company continued to invest in its product innovation and 
development infrastructures to support its market positions 
globally ensuring an even flow of new products into all 
markets.

financial performance

Sales revenues of the continuing operations of the 
consolidated entity for the year to 30 June 2008 were 
$425,255,000 which was 14.1% higher than the consolidated 
sales for the previous corresponding year (2007: 
$372,807,000). The mix of the group sales figures now 
reflects a higher proportion of sales from the North American 
business (significantly due to the acquisition of the remaining 
50% interest in the Canadian Joint Venture effective 1 
January 2007) and the Asian reporting segment.

The group’s underlying profit after tax from continuing 
operations for the year to 30 June 2008 was $20,992,000. 
This was up 5.4% on the previous corresponding year of 
$19,919,000 (underlying, after adjusting for non-recurring 
charges). The non-recurring charges in the prior year primarily 
relate to bad debts written off and legal fees.

The group’s loss after tax from discontinued operations for 
the year to 30 June 2008 was $(98,000) (2007: $(50,873,000) 
after recognising an impairment loss of $37,359,000). After 
the inclusion of this loss from discontinued operations, the 
net profit attributable to shareholders was $20,894,000 (2007: 
loss $34,025,000).

The earnings per share for the consolidated entity was 16.50 
cents per share (2007: -27.37 cents per share), with the 
earnings per share from continuing operations increasing from 
13.55 cents to 16.58 cents. 

financial position

Operating cash flow for the year was $31,407,000 (2007: 
$12,791,000) and proceeds were used to pay down debt. Net 
debt completed the year at $43,340,000 (2007: $71,854,000) 
and represents 25% debt to capital employed ratio 
(2007: 38%).

RISK ManagEMEnT

The company’s risk management is discussed in the corporate 
governance statement. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

DIvIDEnDS

The following dividends have been paid, declared or 
recommended since the end of the preceding year. 

Cents per ordinary 
share

$’000

Final dividends 
recommended: 2.0 2,590
Dividends paid in the year:

Interim dividend paid 8.5 10,714

SIgnIfICanT CHangES In THE STaTE Of 
affaIRS

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of 
the consolidated entity that occurred during the year that have 
not otherwise been disclosed in this report or the consolidated 
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ InTERESTS

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in 
the shares or other instruments of Housewares International 
Limited were:

Ordinary shares

J Schmoll 47,294

S Fisher 288

D Howell -

S Klein 117,189

S Weiss -

REMunERaTIOn REPORT (auDITED) 

This remuneration report outlines the compensation 
arrangements in place for directors and executives of 
Housewares International Limited. For the purposes of this 
report, key management personnel (KMP) of the group are 
defined as those persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the 
company and the group, directly or indirectly.

Details of key management personnel

(i) Directors

J Schmoll Non-executive chairman

S Fisher Non-executive director

D Howell Non-executive director 
- appointed 31 March 2008

S Klein Non-executive director

S Weiss Non-executive director  
- appointed 31 March 2008

J Hersch Managing director 
- retired 30 September 2007

J McConnell Non-executive director  
- resigned 31 March 2008

(ii) Executives

V Cheung Managing director Hong Kong

C Clive Chief executive officer North America 
- appointed 1 September 2007

M Cohen Group chief financial officer and interim 
chief executive officer since 16 June 
2008

A Gelemanovic Group human resources manager 
- retrenched 23 July 2007

P Hill Group chief executive officer 
- resigned 16 June 2008

R Hoare Design and innovation director

S Khan Company secretary  
- appointed 28 September 2007

B Liu Chief executive officer Metro/Thebe Inc 
(USA) 
- resigned 30 April 2008

M Melis General manager product development 
and manufacturing

P Milburn Group risk manager / company secretary 
- resigned 28 September 2007

S Woods General manager Anglo-Canadian 
Housewares 
- resigned 5 February 2008

There were no changes of key management personnel after 
reporting date and before the date the financial report was 
authorised for issue.
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Compensation philosophy

The performance of the company depends upon the quality 
of its directors and executives. To prosper the company must 
attract, retain, motivate and develop highly skilled directors and 
executives in order to secure the longevity of the business.

Based on this philosophy, the company embodies in its 
compensation strategy and framework a total rewards 
approach that joins two interrelated outcomes: improved 
business results and a focus on a performance based 
culture.

The following principles define the compensation framework:

Provision of competitive rewards (in terms of fixed and 
variable pay) to attract high calibre and adept executives;
Return and benefit to the shareholder and linking of 
executive reward to shareholder value and business 
results;
Drive desired value creation and desired behaviours in 
the workforce, including establishment of demanding 
performance hurdles in relation to variable executive 
compensation; and
Reinforcement of the overall business strategy and 
organisational success.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee of the board of directors of the 
company is responsible for determining and reviewing the 
total compensation arrangements for directors and the senior 
executive team.

The remuneration committee assesses the appropriateness of 
the nature and amount of compensation of key management 
personnel on an annual basis by reference to relevant 
performance, market conditions and by also taking into 
consideration internal relativities.

Compensation structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, 
the structure of non-executive director and senior executive 
employee compensation is separate and distinct.

non-executive director compensation

Objective

The board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level 
which provides the company with the ability to attract and 
retain directors of high calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is 
acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the 
aggregate compensation of non-executive directors shall be 
determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount 
not exceeding the amount determined is then divided by the 
board between the directors. The aggregate compensation 
of $475,000 per year was approved by shareholders at the 
annual general meeting held in November 2006.

•

•

•

•

The compensation of non-executive directors is reviewed 
annually. Each director receives a fee for being a director of the 
company. An additional fee is also paid for each director who 
also acts as chairperson of a board committee. The payment 
of additional fees for acting as chairman of a committee 
recognises the additional time commitment required by the 
director to facilitate the running of the committee.

The compensation of non executive directors for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 is detailed in Table 1 on page 16 of this 
report.

Senior executive compensation

Objective

The company aims to remunerate and reward executives with 
a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their 
position and responsibilities within the company and to:

Reward executives for company and individual 
performance against specific targets set with reference to 
business objectives and results;
Align the interest, focus and performance of the executives 
with those of the shareholders;
Offer performance based incentives that encourage 
executives to strive for the achievement of both individual 
and organisational results;
Attract and retain talented executives; and
Ensure total compensation is competitive by market 
standards.

Structure

In determining the level and make-up of executive 
compensation, the remuneration committee engages an 
external consultant as appropriate to provide independent 
advice in the form of a written report detailing market levels 
of compensation for comparable executives’ roles across 
all global locations. The group human resources manager 
provides a summary of the report and recommendations to 
the remuneration committee for consideration.

It is the remuneration committee’s policy that employment 
contracts are entered into with the senior executives. Details 
of the contracts are provided on page 15.

Compensation consists of the following key elements:

Fixed compensation
Variable compensation

Short term incentive (STI); and
Long term incentive (LTI)

The proportion of the fixed compensation and variable 
compensation (potential short term and long term incentives) 
is established for each senior executive by the remuneration 
committee. 

Tables 1 and 2 on pages 16 and 17 of this report detail 
the variable components (%) of the compensation of key 
management personnel of the group.

•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•
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fixed compensation

Objective

The level of fixed compensation is set so as to provide a base 
level of compensation which is appropriate to the position and 
is competitive in the market.

Fixed compensation is reviewed annually by the remuneration 
committee and the process consists of reviewing performance, 
relevant comparative market compensation, internal relativities 
and where appropriate, external advice on policies and 
practices. As noted above, the committee has access to 
external advice independent of management when required.

Structure

Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their 
fixed compensation in a variety of forms including cash and 
other benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the 
manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient 
without creating undue cost for the company.

variable compensation – short term incentive (STI)

Objective

The objective of the STI program is to reward senior executives 
on the achievement of performance objectives, providing 
them with the opportunity to earn over and above their fixed 
compensation should the agreed objectives be achieved. 
Executives and other senior managers are eligible to earn a 
percentage of their base pay, being 20-30% based on their 
position and seniority in the organisation. The incentive 
payment is based on the achievement of individual and group 
objectives. This is determined on an individual executive 
basis. 

The principle objectives of the plan are:

to ensure that the organisation delivers its primary financial 
measures and targets on an annual basis to deliver 
sustainable performance and continuing organisational 
growth;
to achieve the business goals through rewarding individual 
contribution and performance; and
to promote and facilitate the concept of shared ownership 
whereby executives who contribute to the success of the 
organisation will also share in that success.

The total potential STI available is set at a level so as to 
provide sufficient incentive to the senior executives to achieve 
operational targets and such that the cost to the company is 
reasonable.

•

•

•

Structure

Actual STI payments to key management personnel are 
dependent on the extent to which the specific operating targets 
set at the commencement of the year are met. The operational 
targets consist of a number of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s) covering both financial and non-financial measures 
of performance. Included are measures such as underlying 
earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) contribution, sales, 
margin, management of department expenses, employee 
development & staff training, customer service performance 
and product development & category management. The 
company has predetermined benchmarks which must be met 
in order to trigger payments under the short term incentive 
scheme and these are varied on a yearly basis in line with the 
annual budgeting process.

On an annual basis, after consideration of performance 
against the established KPI’s, incorporating both individual and 
group objectives, a review is undertaken by the group human 
resources manager and chief executive officer to determine 
the amount, if any, of the short term incentive payment 
each executive is eligible to receive. A recommendation by 
the chief executive officer is then put to the remuneration 
committee for approval. The chief executive officer may also 
award discretionary bonuses to the senior executive team for 
significant contributions to the business and for outstanding 
performance. All discretionary bonuses are also presented 
as recommendations to the remuneration committee for 
approval.

The aggregate of the annual STI payments available for 
executives across the company is subject to the approval 
of the remuneration committee and payments are typically 
paid as a cash bonus. The minimum amount of the STI cash 
payments assuming that no executives meet their respective 
KPIs for the 2008 financial year is nil.

variable compensation – long term incentive (LTI)

Objective 

The objective of the LTI plan is to reward senior executives in 
a manner that aligns this element of compensation with the 
creation of shareholder wealth.

The LTI scheme is only made available to executives and 
key managers who are able to influence the generation of 
shareholder wealth and have a direct impact on the company’s 
performance against relevant long term performance hurdles.

Structure

LTI grants to senior executives are provided in the form of 
options issued in accordance with the second senior executive 
option plan at the recommendation of the chief executive 
officer and as approved by the remuneration committee.

The company uses underlying earnings per share (underlying 
EPS) as the performance hurdle for the long term incentive 
plan. Underlying EPS represents the earnings per share from 
continuing operations adjusted for non-recurring significant 
items. The use of EPS is market practice as it ensures an 
alignment between shareholder return and reward for the 
executives.
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Relationship of rewards to performance

The performance hurdle to be achieved is based on the 
company’s underlying EPS achieving growth over a three 
year term, of at least 10% per annum, compounded annually. 
Options will vest only if this performance hurdle is met. If the 
underlying EPS growth condition is not achieved in any year, 
the underlying EPS growth for that year will be carried forward 
and recalculated at the end of the following year until the end 
of the term of the options. As a result, options may still vest 
and become exercisable where the vesting conditions are met 
in a subsequent year.

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met 
each year, the company receives independent data which 
provides the underlying EPS growth achieved for the year. 
If the performance hurdle has been met, the executive will 
generally be able to exercise options as follows:

 1⁄3 of the options issued, any time during the one year 
period commencing one year after the issue date;
 1⁄3 of the options issued, any time during the one year 
period commencing two years after the issue date;
 1⁄3 of the options issued, any time during the one year 
period commencing three years after the issue date.

The exercise price of the options is generally based on the 
volume weighted average price of all the company’s shares 
traded on the ASX on the five trading days up to and including 
the issue date plus a premium of 11%.

•

•

•

group performance

The table below shows the performance of the group over the past five years (including the current year) as measured by the 
group’s underlying profit after tax and also reflected in the movement of the company’s underlying earnings per share (EPS) over 
time.

Year ending
30 June 

2004*
30 June 

2005
30 June 

2006
30 June 

2007 
30 June 

2008 

Underlying earnings before interest & tax ($’000) 40,859 32,601 34,934# 30,703# 32,150#

Underlying basic earnings per share (cents) 20.58 15.82 17.70# 16.02# 16.58#

Basic earnings per share (cents) 19.70 12.33 10.99 (27.37) 16.50

Figures reported based on previous Australian generally acceptable accounting practices.

Figures reported based on continuing operations.

*

#

Employment contracts

The details of employment contracts are provided below.

Mr Paul Hill – chief executive officer

The employment contract commenced effective 1 October 
2007 and terminated upon his resignation on 16 June 2008. 
Under the terms of that contract:

Mr Hill could resign by giving six month’s written notice. 
The group could terminate the employment agreement by 
providing six months written notice or providing payment 
in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed component 
of Mr Hill’s compensation). 
The group could terminate the contract at any time without 
notice if serious misconduct had occurred.

Mr Hill resigned as the chief executive officer on 16 June 2008. 
Mr Mervyn Cohen was appointed the interim chief executive 
officer on 16 June 2008. Mr Cohen can resign by giving 
two month’s written notice. The group can terminate this 
employment contract by providing two months written notice.

•
•

•

Key management personnel

Other than as specified in this report, none of the key 
management personnel have fixed term employment contracts. 
Consequently, amounts payable on termination may vary from 
a minimum statutory entitlement to a maximum of 12 months 
based on a calculation of total remuneration (which includes 
base salary, superannuation and motor vehicle value or motor 
vehicle allowance (if applicable)). In accordance with the 
terms of the second senior executive option plan any options 
not vested at the date of termination will be forfeited, unless 
otherwise determined by the board. 
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Remuneration of key management personnel

Table 1: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2008 (Consolidated)

Short-term employee benefits

Post- 
employ-

ment 
benefits

Long- 
term  

employee 
benefits

Termi-
nation 

benefits

Share-
based 

payment Total

Perfor-
mance  
related

Salary  
& fees

$

Cash 
bonuses

$

Non- 
monetary 

benefits
$

Other
$

Superan-
nuation

$

Long 
service 

leave
$ $

Options
$ $ %

non-executive directors 

J. Schmoll 
- chairman

122,308 - - - 10,447 - - - 132,755 -

S. Fisher 89,423 - - - 8,048 - - -  97,471 -

D. Howell 
- appointed 31 March 2008

18,462 - - - 1,662 - - - 20,124 -

S. Klein (a) 79,025 - - - - - - - 79,025 -

S. Weiss 
- appointed 31 March 2008

19,615 - - - 1,765 - - - 21,380 -

J. McConnell 
- resigned 31 March 2008

56,535 - - - 1,843 - - - 58,378 -

Sub-total non-executive 

directors
385,368 - - - 23,765 - - - 409,133

Executive directors

J. Hersch 
- retired 30 September 2007

169,212 - - - 14,538 - 34,497 - 218,247 -

Other key management 
personnel

V. Cheung 351,101 76,742 12,893 67,745 32,615 - - - 541,096 14.18

C. Clive 
- appointed 1 September 2007

327,241 - - - - - - - 327,241 -

M. Cohen 210,000 120,000 30,096 2,361 17,182 4,204 - 20,465 404,308 34.74

A. Gelemanovic 
- retrenched 23 July 2007

9,538 - - - 858 - 98,425 - 108,821 -

P. Hill 
- resigned 16 June 2008

460,385 360,000 26,192 - 39,368 - - - 885,945 40.63

R. Hoare (b) 250,307 90,000 30,000 3,853 22,532 5,042 - 4,335 406,069 23.23

S. Khan (c) 103,077 30,000 22,500 5,486 9,277 3,239 - 5,610 179,189 19.87

B. Liu 
- resigned 30 April 2008

199,877 - 6,727 14,603 7,995 - 154,907 - 384,109 -

M. Melis 254,231 90,000 30,000 5,636 22,055 5,859 - 3,740 411,521 22.78

P. Milburn 
- resigned 28 September 2007

39,000 - - - 3,510 - 191,380 - 233,890 -

S. Woods 
- resigned 5 February 2008

232,774 - 4,178 - - - - - 236,952 -

Sub-total executive KMP 2,606,743 766,742 162,586 99,684 169,930 18,344 479,209 34,150 4,337,388

Totals 2,992,111 766,742 162,586 99,684 193,695 18,344 479,209 34,150 4,746,521

 
note

(a) S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a firm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST.    
 The amounts shown above are net of GST.
(b) R. Hoare did not meet the definition of key management personnel for the 2007 financial year but is key management personnel for 
 2008.
(c) Appointed company secretary 28 September 2007. All remuneration above (including the cash bonus) has been prorated accordingly.
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Table 2: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2007 (Consolidated)

Short-term employee benefits

Post- 
employ-

ment 
benefits

Long- 
term   

employee 
benefits

Termi- 
nation 

benefits

Share-
based 

payment Total

Perfor-
mance  
related

Salary  
& fees

$

Cash 
bonuses

$

Non- 
monetary 

benefits
$

Other
$

Superan-
nuation

$

Long 
service 

leave
$ $

Options #
$ $ %

non-executive directors

J. Schmoll - chairman 63,666 - - - 63,500 - - - 127,166 -

S. Klein (a) 67,217 - - - - - - - 67,217 -

S. Fisher 81,666 - - - 7,350 - - - 89,016 -

J. McConnell 56,250 - - - 18,688 - - - 74,938 -

Sub-total non-executive 
directors 268,799 - - - 89,538 - - - 358,337

Executive directors

J. Hersch 586,456 90,000 54,705 - 66,621 20,620 - 74,539 892,941 18.43

Other key management personnel

R. Carr - VP Sales (Metro) 
- retired 31 December 2007 186,596 - 4,636 30,817 26,415 - 233,704 - 482,168 -

V. Cheung 365,910 73,195 13,403 48,961 34,120 - - - 535,589 13.67

M. Cohen 
- appointed 9 October 2007 162,050 100,000 5,000 - 27,637 2,409 - - 297,096 33.66

A. Gelemanovic 144,835 - 15,947 - 13,317 2,733 - 12,422 189,254 6.56

M. Kirkby - General manager 
corporate finance & international 
- retired 30 September 2006 158,804 - 8,753 - 15,212 - 497,396 - 680,165 -

B. Liu 259,743 - 9,363 19,971 10,250 - - 12,422 311,749 3.98

M. Melis 242,859 70,000 19,978 - 23,815 4,587 - 10,859 372,098 21.73

P. Milburn 155,019 - 16,041 - 13,880 2,840 - - 187,780   -

S. Woods  254,788 44,053 6,783 109,138 - - - - 414,762 10.62

Sub-total executive KMP 2,517,060 377,248 154,609 208,887 231,267 33,189 731,100 110,242 4,363,602

Totals 2,785,859 377,248 154,609 208,887 320,805 33,189 731,100  110,242 4,721,939

note
(a) S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a firm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. 
 The amounts shown above are net of GST.
# Value excludes unvested options granted prior to 7 November 2002. 



18

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

REMunERaTIOn REPORT (auDITED) COnTInuED

Table 3: Compensation options: granted and vested during the year (Consolidated) 

The following compensation options were granted and vested to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 
2008.

Granted Terms and conditions for each grant Vested

30 June 2008 Number Grant date

Fair value 
per option at 

grant date ($) 
(Note 30)

Exercise 
price per 
option ($) 
(Note 30) Expiry date

First  
exercise  

date

Last 
exercise 

date Number

M. Cohen 100,000 2 Nov 07 0.53 2.36 2 Nov 11 2 Nov 08 2 Nov 11 -

P. Hill* 1,000,000 2 Nov 07 0.53 2.36 2 Nov 11 2 Nov 08 2 Nov 11 -

R. Hoare 30,000 5 Jun 08 0.24 1.96 7 Apr 10 7 Apr 07 7 Apr 10 -

1,130,000 -

These options lapsed upon the resignation of P. Hill on 16 June 2008.

30 June 2007:

There were no compensation options granted or vested to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2007.

*

Table 4: Options granted as part of remuneration (Consolidated) 

30 June 2008:

Options granted to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2008 are disclosed in Table 3 above. 

30 June 2007:

There were no options that were granted, exercised or lapsed as part of remuneration to key management personnel during the 
year ended 30 June 2007.

Table 5: Shares issued on exercise of compensation options (Consolidated) 

Shares issued
Paid per share       

(Note 30)
Unpaid  

per share*

30 June 2008 Number $ $

J. Hersch 166,666 1.85 -

J. Hersch 250,000 1.66 -

V. Cheung 90,000 - 1.85

R. Hoare 60,000 - 1.85

P. Milburn 30,000 1.85 -

Total 596,666

Housewares International Limited has provided loans to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company. For further details refer 
to note 32.

30 June 2007:

There were no shares issued on exercise of compensation options to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 
2007.

*
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SHaRE OPTIOnS

unissued shares

As at the date of this report, there were 1,610,000 unissued 
ordinary shares under options (1,310,000 at the reporting 
date). Refer to note 30 of the financial report for further details 
of the options outstanding. Option holders do not have any 
right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue 
of the company.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options

During the year, employees and executives have exercised 
options to acquire 1,030,666 fully paid ordinary shares in 
Housewares International Limited at a weighted average 
exercise price of $1.80. 

auDITOR’S DECLaRaTIOn Of 
InDEPEnDEnCE

Attached is a copy of the auditor’s declaration provided 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2008. This auditor’s 
declaration forms part of this directors’ report.

nOn-auDIT SERvICES

The following non-audit services were provided by the 
company’s primary auditor, Ernst & Young Australia. The 
directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services 
is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and 
scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that 
auditor independence was not compromised.

Ernst & Young Australia received or is due to receive the 
following amounts for the provision of non-audit services:
Tax compliance services  $39,000 
Non-audit related services $19,000

Affiliates of Ernst & Young Australia received or are due to 
receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit 
services:
Tax compliance services  $20,000 
Non-audit related services $59,000

SIgnIfICanT EvEnTS afTER yEaR EnD

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the 
end of the year, which significantly affected or may affect the 
operations of the consolidated entity.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

John Schmoll

Non-executive chairman

Sydney 
26 August 2008

DIRECTORS’ MEETIngS

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of 
committees of directors) held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each director was as follows:

Full  
board

Audit 
& risk

Remu-
neration

Number of meetings 12 6 5

J Schmoll 12(c) 6 5

S Fisher 12 6(c) 5

D Howell - appointed 31 March 2008 2 1 1

S Klein 11 6 4

S Weiss - appointed 31 March 2008 2 1 1(c)

J Hersch - retired 30 September 2007 2 - 1*

J McConnell - resigned 31 March 2008 8 5 3

(c) Designates the current chairman of the board or committee.

Designates that the director was not a member of the applicable 
committee during the year.

Attended, but not as a committee member.

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

As at the date of this report, the company had an audit & 
risk committee and a remuneration committee of the board 
of directors. The details of the functions and memberships of 
the committees of the board are presented in the corporate 
governance statement.

InDEMnIfICaTIOn Of DIRECTORS anD 
OffICERS

The directors and officers of the company are indemnified 
by the company against losses or liabilities which they may 
sustain or incur as an officer of the company, in the proper 
performance of their duties.

LIKELy DEvELOPMEnTS anD ExPECTED 
RESuLTS

Disclosure of information as to likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity and expected results of 
those operations would be prejudicial to the interests of the 
consolidated entity. Accordingly, such information has not 
been included in this report.

EnvIROnMEnTaL REguLaTIOnS anD 
PERfORManCE

The consolidated entity is not involved in any activities that 
have a marked influence on the environment within its area of 
operation.

CORPORaTE gOvERnanCE

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability, the directors of Housewares 
International Limited support the principles of good corporate 
governance. Refer to the company’s corporate governance 
statement.

-

*
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CORPORaTE gOvERnanCE STaTEMEnT

The board of directors is responsible for the corporate 
governance practices of the company and is committed to 
adhering to the Australian Stock Exchange (‘ASX’) Corporate 
Governance Council (‘council’) ‘Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations’.

The ASX principles that have been adopted are outlined 
below. 

The company’s corporate governance practices throughout 
the year ended 30 June 2008 were compliant with the council’s 
recommendations, except for those differences disclosed and 
explained in this statement.

The following documents are available on the investor relations, 
corporate governance section of the company’s website, 
www.housewares.com.au

selection and appointment of directors
criteria for assessing independence
code of conduct
continuous disclosure policy
share trading policy
shareholder communications policy
board charter
audit and risk committee charter
remuneration committee charter

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The term of the current directors as at the date of this annual report are as follows: 

Director Appointed
  Term in    

office  Non-executive Independent   Last elected
Seeking election or 
re-election in 2008

John Schmoll (chairman) 2004 4 years Yes  Yes 2007 No 

Steven Fisher 2004 4 years Yes  No 2007 No

Dean Howell 2008 < 1 year Yes Yes - Yes

Steven Klein 2003 5 years Yes  No 2006 Yes

Samuel Weiss 2008 < 1 year Yes Yes - Yes

PRInCIPLE 1: Lay SOLID fOunDaTIOnS fOR 
ManagEMEnT anD OvERSIgHT

Role of the board and management

The board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the 
company on behalf of the shareholders, by whom it is elected, 
and to whom it is accountable. The board has adopted formal 
guidelines for board operation and membership. These 
guidelines outline the roles and responsibilities of the board 
and its members, and establish the relationship between the 
board and management. 

The board is responsible for approving the strategic direction 
of the company, establishing goals for management and 
monitoring the achievement of those goals, and establishing a 
sound system of risk oversight and management. The board 
will regularly review its performance and the performance of 
its committees.

Evaluating the performance of key executives

The performance of key executives is reviewed against specific 
and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance 
criteria and includes:

financial measures of the company’s performance;
development and achievement of strategic objectives;
development of management and staff; 
compliance with legislative and company policy 
requirements; and
achievement of key performance indicators.

Performance evaluation

All key executives were subject to a performance review as 
described above during the reporting period.

•
•
•
•

•
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PRInCIPLE 2: STRuCTuRE Of THE BOaRD 
TO aDD vaLuE

Board composition

The company’s constitution states that there must be a 
minimum of three directors and contains detailed provisions 
concerning the tenure of directors. The board currently 
comprises five non-executive directors. 

The directors’ report, on page 10, outlines the relevant skills, 
experience, and expertise held by each director in office at the 
date of the annual report. 

Director independence

In considering whether a director is independent, the board 
refers to the company’s “Criteria for assessing independence 
of directors”, which are consistent with the council’s 
recommendations. Independent directors of the company 
are those that are not involved in the day-to-day management 
of the company and are free from any real or reasonably 
perceived business or other relationship that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their unfettered and independent 
judgment. 

In accordance with the definition of independence above, 
and the materiality thresholds outlined in the company’s 
policy ‘Criteria for assessing independence of directors’, it is 
the board’s view that Mr Dean Howell, Mr John Schmoll and 
Mr Samuel Weiss are independent directors. The following 
directors are not independent directors:

Mr Steven Klein (non-executive director) is a partner of 
Arnold Bloch Leibler, which is a professional adviser to 
the company; and
Mr Steven Fisher (non-executive director) is employed by 
an entity associated with a substantial shareholder of the 
company.

Regardless of whether directors are defined as independent, 
all directors are expected to bring independent views and 
judgment to board deliberations.

Majority independence

Of the five directors, two are considered not to be independent 
for the reasons noted above.

The majority of the board is considered to be independent.

Independent chairman

Mr John Schmoll was non-executive chairman throughout 
the year. Mr Schmoll is considered to be an independent 
chairman. 

Material personal interest requirement

The Corporations Act provides that unless agreed by the 
board, where any director has a material personal interest in a 
matter, the director will not be permitted to be present during 
discussions, or to vote on the matter. 

•

•

access to independent advice

There are procedures in place to enable directors, in 
connection with their duties and responsibilities as directors, 
to seek independent professional advice at the expense of the 
company. Prior written approval of the chairman is required, 
which will not be unreasonably withheld.

nomination committee

During the year ended 30 June 2008, the company did not 
have a separately established nomination committee. All 
duties and responsibilities typically delegated to such a 
committee are the responsibility of the full board. Although the 
council’s recommendation 2.4 recommends that a nomination 
committee can be a more efficient mechanism for the 
detailed examination of selection and appointment practices, 
particularly in larger companies, the board does not believe 
at this time that any marked efficiencies or enhancements 
would be achieved by the creation of a separate nomination 
committee.

Evaluating the performance of the board

Currently, whilst there is no formal review process of the 
performance of the board, it is an item that will be reviewed 
in the next reporting period. In the interim, the chairman 
informally assesses the performance of individual directors 
and their contribution to board affairs.

PRInCIPLE 3: PROMOTE ETHICaL anD 
RESPOnSIBLE DECISIOn-MaKIng

Code of conduct

The board has formally adopted a code of conduct (“code”) 
for all employees (including directors). The code aims at 
maintaining the highest ethical standards, corporate behaviour, 
and accountability across the group. 

These obligations are also consistent with the duties imposed 
on directors by the Corporations Act. In addition, directors are 
obliged to be independent in judgment and to ensure that all 
reasonable steps are taken to be satisfied as to the soundness 
of board decisions. 

Share trading policy

All directors and employees are subject to Corporations Act 
restrictions on dealing in securities in the company if they are 
in possession of price sensitive information. 

In addition, members of the board and employees have been 
notified of certain trading windows in which permitted dealings 
of the company securities may occur e.g. the period of one 
month commencing 24 hours after the ASX announcement of 
the half year and year end results and provided that they are 
not in possession of price sensitive information at that time.

Share dealings by directors are promptly notified to ASX.

A summary of the share trading policy is available on the 
company’s website at the investor relations, corporate 
governance section.
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CORPORaTE gOvERnanCE STaTEMEnT CONTINUED

PRInCIPLE 4: SafEguaRD InTEgRITy In 
fInanCIaL REPORTIng 

audit and risk committee

The board has an audit and risk committee (A&RC), which 
operates under a charter approved by the board. It is the 
board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control 
framework exists within the consolidated entity. This includes 
internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and 
efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding 
of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and 
the reliability of financial information. The board has delegated 
the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of 
a framework of internal control and ethical standards of the 
company to the A&RC. 

Among its responsibilities, the A&RC:

reviews all accounts of the group to be publicly released; 
recommends to the board the appointment and 
remuneration of the external auditors;
reviews the scope of external audits; 
assesses the performance and independence of the 
external auditors, including procedures governing partner 
rotation;
reviews corporate governance practices; and 
monitors and assesses the systems for internal 
compliance and control, legal compliance and risk 
management.

Composition of committee

The current members of the A&RC are:

Mr Steven Fisher (chairman)
Mr Dean Howell
Mr Steven Klein
Mr John Schmoll
Mr Samuel Weiss

The directors’ report, on page 19, outlines the number of 
A&RC meetings held during the year and the names of the 
attendees at those meetings. It also outlines the qualifications 
of A&RC members on page 10.

The chief executive officer; company secretary; chief financial 
officer; the external auditors and any other persons considered 
appropriate may attend meetings of the A&RC by invitation. 
The committee also meets from time to time with the external 
auditors independent of management. 

In accordance with the council’s recommendation 4.2, the 
A&RC should be structured so that it:

comprises only non-executive directors;
comprises a majority of independent directors; 
is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the 
board; and
has at least three members.

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Although the chairman of the A&RC is not an independent 
director, the board considers that Mr Fisher continues to be 
the most suitable director to be chairman of the A&RC due to 
his knowledge of the company and its operations, his technical 
and commercial skills and his qualifications in accounting. 
The board is satisfied that Mr Fisher exercises his duties as 
chairman of the A&RC impartially and properly. However, as 
two new non-executive directors were appointed to the A&RC, 
it is possible that this may result in time in a change to the 
chairmanship of the A&RC.

PRInCIPLE 5: MaKE TIMELy anD BaLanCED 
DISCLOSuRE

The company’s continuous disclosure policy complies with 
the council’s recommendation 5.1. This policy is available on 
the company’s website at the investor relations, corporate 
governance section.

PRInCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIgHTS Of 
SHaREHOLDERS 

The company is committed to providing all shareholders with 
comprehensive, timely and equal access to information about 
its activities to enable them to make informed investment 
decisions. The company’s shareholder communication policy 
is available on the company’s website at the investor relations, 
corporate governance section.

The company’s website displays recent ASX announcements 
and contains information about the company. 

PRInCIPLE 7: RECOgnISE anD ManagE 
RISK 

The company is committed to the identification, monitoring and 
management of risks associated with its business activities 
and has embedded in its management and reporting systems 
a number of risk management controls. These include: 

guidelines and limits for approval of capital expenditure; 
policies and procedures for the management of financial 
risk and treasury operations including exposures to foreign 
currencies and movements in interest rates; and
annual budgeting and monthly reporting systems for 
all businesses which enable the monitoring of progress 
against performance targets and the evaluation of trends.

Management is ultimately responsible to the board for the 
system of internal control and risk management. The A&RC 
assists the board in monitoring this function. 

In accordance with the council’s recommendation 7.3 the 
interim chief executive officer/chief financial officer provided the 
board with a written declaration confirming that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations 
Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal control and that the system operated effectively in all 
material respects.

•
•

•
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PRInCIPLE 8: REMunERaTE faIRLy anD 
RESPOnSIBLy 

Remuneration committee

The board has a remuneration committee, comprising the 
following directors:

Mr Samuel Weiss (chairman)
Mr Steven Fisher
Mr Dean Howell
Mr Steven Klein 
Mr John Schmoll 

In accordance with the council’s recommendation 8.1, the 
remuneration committee comprises:

an independent chairman; and
at least three members.

Of the five committee members Mr Steven Fisher and 
Mr Steven Klein are considered not to be independent for 
the reasons noted above. The majority of the remuneration 
committee is considered to be independent as at the date of 
this report and the board is satisfied that Mr Fisher and Mr 
Klein are able to exercise their duties as committee members 
impartially and properly. 

For details on the number of meetings of the remuneration 
committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the directors’ report on page 19.

Remuneration disclosure

For a full discussion of the company’s remuneration 
philosophy and framework, and the remuneration received by 
directors and executives in the current period, please refer to 
the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report on 
pages 12 to 18.

•
•
•
•
•

•
•



24

InCOME STaTEMEnT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 2(a) 425,255 372,807 10,714 4,322

Cost of sales 2(b) (306,825) (268,771) - -

Gross profit 118,430 104,036 10,714 4,322

Other income 2(c) 306 271 - -

Share of the profits of jointly controlled entities accounted 
for using equity method 12(b) - 2,205 - -

Employee benefits (expenses)/benefit 2(f) (47,475) (42,150) 45 (209)

Premises, lease & utilities expenses (11,924) (11,095) - -

Advertising expenses (13,575) (11,287) - -

Other expenses (8,337) (7,292) - -

Underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and significant items (EBITDA) 37,425 34,688 10,759 4,113

Depreciation & amortisation expenses 2(d) (5,275) (3,985) - -

Underlying earnings before interest, tax and significant 
items (EBIT) 32,150 30,703 10,759 4,113

Finance costs, net 2(g) (5,324) (4,752) 76 11

Significant items:

- Bad debt written off - (1,344) - -

- Legal fees & associated costs - (1,775) - -

- Expenses associated with USA relocation - (720) - -

- Strategic advisory costs - (600) - -

Profit from continuing operations before income tax 26,826 21,512 10,835 4,124

Income tax expense 3 (5,834) (4,664) (23) (3)

Profit from continuing operations after income tax 20,992 16,848 10,812 4,121

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations after income tax 4(c) (98) (50,873) - -

Net profit / (loss) for the year attributable to members of 
Housewares International Limited 20,894 (34,025) 10,812 4,121

Cents Cents

Earnings per share from profit from continuing operations 
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent 
entity:

- basic earnings per share 5 16.58 13.55

- diluted earnings per share 5 16.27 13.09

Earnings per share from profit/(loss) attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the parent entity:

- basic earning per share 5 16.50 (27.37)

- diluted earnings per share 5 16.20 (26.44)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this income statement.
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BaLanCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 10,262 22,657 61 1

Trade and other receivables 8 62,660 71,688 59,921 50,716

Inventories 9 80,784 80,494 - -

Other financial assets 10 1,022 277 - -

Current tax assets 3 2,805 5,413 - 3,535

Other assets 11 1,858 1,561 - -

159,391 182,090 59,982 54,252

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 4(b) - 562 - -

Total current assets 159,391 182,652 59,982 54,252

non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 - 1,000 - -

Investments in jointly controlled entities 12 - 95 - -

Investment in controlled entities 13 - - 69,429 69,429

Plant and equipment 14 9,103 9,507 - -

Deferred tax assets 3 17,156 19,531 8,441 7,267

Intangible assets – other 15 41,284 38,452 - -

Intangible assets – goodwill 16 24,558 24,558 - -

Total non-current assets 92,101 93,143 77,870 76,696

Total assets 251,492 275,795 137,852 130,948

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 52,066 48,555 - -

Borrowings 19 23,268 59,097 - -

Current tax liabilities 3 3,245 2,087 - -

Provisions 20 3,722 3,852 - -

Other financial liabilities 21 424 3,290 - -

Total current liabilities 82,725 116,881 - -

non-current liabilities

Borrowings 19 30,334 35,414 - -

Deferred tax liabilities 3 3,929 3,538 - -

Provisions 20 2,818 2,847 - -

Total non-current liabilities 37,081 41,799 - -

Total liabilities 119,806 158,680 - -

Net assets 131,686 117,115 137,852 130,948

Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 22 137,564 130,713 137,564 130,713

Reserves 23 (8,900) (6,440) 484 529

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 24 3,022 (7,158) (196) (294)

Total equity 131,686 117,115 137,852 130,948

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this balance sheet.
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STaTEMEnT Of CHangES In EQuITy
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note

Issued capital

$’000

Reserves

$’000

Retained 
earnings

$’000

Total equity

$’000

Consolidated

At 1 July 2006 128,237 (1,681) 31,189 157,745

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 23(a) - (4,692) - (4,692)

Cash flow hedges 23(c) - (2,415) - (2,415)

Income tax on items taken directly to equity 3 - 2,139 - 2,139

Net expense recognised directly in equity - (4,968) - (4,968)

Loss for the year - - (34,025) (34,025)

Total recognised expense for the year - (4,968) (34,025) (38,993)

Dividends paid 6(a) - - (4,322) (4,322)

Issue of ordinary shares - dividend reinvestment plan 6(a) 1,607 - - 1,607

Issue of ordinary shares - exercise of options 22(a) 1,069 - - 1,069

Non-recourse senior executive option plan loan changes 22(b) (200) - - (200)

Share-based payments 23(b) - 209 - 209

At 30 June 2007 130,713 (6,440) (7,158) 117,115

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 23(a) - (5,907) - (5,907)

Cash flow hedges 23(c) - 2,972 - 2,972

Income tax on items taken directly to equity 3 - 520 - 520

Net expense recognised directly in equity - (2,415) - (2,415)

Profit for the year - - 20,894 20,894

Total recognised income/(expense) for the year - (2,415) 20,894 18,479

Dividends paid 6(a) - - (10,714) (10,714)

Issue of ordinary shares - dividend reinvestment plan 6(a) 5,698 - - 5,698

Issue of ordinary shares - exercise of options 22(a) 1,859 - - 1,859

Non-recourse senior executive option plan loan changes 22(b) (706) - - (706)

Share-based payments 23(b) - (45) - (45)

At 30 June 2008 137,564 (8,900) 3,022 131,686

Parent

At 1 July 2006 128,237 320 (93) 128,464

Profit for the year - - 4,121 4,121

Total recognised income for the year - - 4,121 4,121

Dividends paid 6(a) - - (4,322) (4,322)

Issue of ordinary shares - dividend reinvestment plan 6(a) 1,607 - - 1,607

Issue of ordinary shares - exercise of options 22(a) 1,069 - - 1,069

Non-recourse senior executive option plan loan changes 22(b) (200) - - (200)

Share-based payments 23(b) - 209 - 209

At 30 June 2007 130,713 529 (294) 130,948

Profit for the year - - 10,812 10,812

Total recognised income for the year - - 10,812 10,812

Dividends paid 6(a) - - (10,714) (10,714)

Issue of ordinary shares - dividend reinvestment plan 6(a) 5,698 - - 5,698

Issue of ordinary shares - exercise of options 22(a) 1,859 - - 1,859

Non-recourse senior executive option plan loan changes 22(b) (706) - - (706)

Share-based payments 23(b) - (45) - (45)

At 30 June 2008 137,564 484 (196) 137,852

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of changes in equity. 
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CaSH fLOW STaTEMEnT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 447,478 491,340 - -

Payments to suppliers and employees (411,587) (467,419) - -

Dividends received - - 10,714 4,322

Finance costs paid (6,895) (6,390) - (3)

Income tax refund/(paid) 1,763 (5,175) - -

Finance income received 648 435 76 14

Net cash flows from operating activities 7(b) 31,407 12,791 10,790 4,333

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment 14(i) (2,717) (4,701) - -

Proceeds from sale of business 4(d) 7,237 8,137 - -

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 164 323 - -

Purchase of intangible assets (5,482) (4,240) - -

Acquisition of subsidiary 27(a) - (20,825) - -

Deferred consideration for purchase of business 27(b) (392) (784) - -

Repayment of loan from jointly controlled entity - 1,087 - -

Distribution received from jointly controlled entity 12(d) - 2,174 - -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,190) (18,829) - -

Cash flows from financing activities

Net (repayment)/proceeds (of)/from borrowings (37,940) 10,922 - -

Repayment of borrowings from controlled entities - - (5,714) (1,619)

Proceeds from issues of shares 22(a) 797 481 - -

Proceeds from repayment of senior executive option plan 
loans 22(b) 356 388 - -

Equity dividends paid 6(a) (5,016) (2,715) (5,016) (2,715)

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (41,803) 9,076 (10,730) (4,334)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,586) 3,038 60 (1)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 14,509 13,716 1 2

Net foreign exchange difference 283 (2,245) - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7(a) 3,206 14,509 61 1

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this cash flow statement. 



28

nOTES TO THE fInanCIaL STaTEMEnTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

nOTE 1. SuMMaRy Of SIgnIfICanT 
aCCOunTIng POLICIES

Housewares International Limited is a company limited by 
shares incorporated in Australia. Housewares International 
Limited shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange. 

This annual report covers both Housewares International 
Limited (parent or company) as an individual entity and 
the consolidated entity (group) comprising Housewares 
International Limited and its subsidiaries.

A description of the group’s operations and of its principal 
activities is included in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on page 11. The directors’ report is 
unaudited (except for the remuneration report) and does not 
form part of the financial report.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which 
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative financial instruments and assets of 
disposal group classified as held for sale, which have been 
measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollar ($’000) 
unless otherwise stated under the option available to the 
company under ASIC class order 98/0100. The company is 
an entity to which the class order applies.

(b) Statement of compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 
have not been adopted by the group for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2008. 

The amendments to standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted that have been identified as those which may impact 
the group in the period of initial application are:

AASB 8 Operating Segments: Replaces the presentation 
requirements of segment reporting in AASB 114. AASB 
8 is applicable from 1 July 2009 and may impact 
disclosures.
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Introduces changes to the titles of various statements and 
new presentation requirements. The revised AASB 101 is 
applicable from 1 July 2009, and will not impact any of 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but 
is expected to impact disclosures.

•

•

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Housewares International Limited and its 
subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the group 
controls another entity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-
company balances and transactions, income and expenses 
and profit and loss resulting from intra-group transactions 
have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is obtained by the group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the group.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the 
purchase method of accounting. The purchase method 
of accounting involves allocating the cost of the business 
combination to the fair value of assets acquired and the 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition. 

Investments in subsidiaries in the parent accounts are carried 
at cost.

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
 and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are 
often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period are:

Impairment of goodwill & intangibles with indefinite useful 
lives

The group determines whether goodwill and intangibles with 
indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. 
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives are allocated. The assumptions 
used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives 
are discussed in note 17.

Share-based payment transactions

The group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions 
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair 
value is determined either internally or by an external valuer 
using either the Black-Scholes or binomial option pricing 
model, using the assumptions detailed in note 30.
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Onerous lease provision

The onerous lease provision represents the present value of the 
future lease payments that the consolidated entity is presently 
obligated to make in respect of onerous lease contracts under 
non-cancellable operating lease agreements, less revenue 
expected to be earned on the lease including estimated future 
sub-lease revenue, where applicable. The calculation of this 
provision requires various assumptions associated with the 
sub-letting of the premises. The related carrying amounts are 
disclosed in note 20.

(e) Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for 
all business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs 
directly attributable to the combination. 

All identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of 
the business combination over the net fair value of the group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as 
goodwill. 

(f) Segment reporting

A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of 
the entity that is engaged in providing products or services 
within a particular economic environment and is subject to 
risks and returns that are different than those of segments 
operating in other economic environments. A business 
segment is a distinguishable component of the entity that is 
engaged in providing products or services that are subject to 
risks and returns that are different to those of other business 
segments.

(g) foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Housewares 
International Limited and its Australian subsidiaries are 
Australian dollars (AUD or A$). Each entity in the group 
determines its own functional currency and items included in 
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is either: 
USD - United States dollars (Thebe International, Inc., 
Metro/Thebe, Inc. and HWI China Holdings Limited); 
HKD - Hong Kong dollars (HWI International Ltd, Gannet 
Holdings Limited and Breville Export Limited);
CAD - Canadian dollars (HWI Canada, Inc., Holdings HWI 
Canada, Inc. and Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.); 
and
NZD - New Zealand dollars (Breville NZ Ltd).

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these 
foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation 
currency of Housewares International Limited. They are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and the income statements are translated at the weighted 
average exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are taken directly 
to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign 
entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the 
income statement.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise 
cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the balance sheet.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are 
initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.

Bad debts are written off when incurred. An allowance for 
uncollectible receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount 
of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.

(j) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.

The cost of inventories shall comprise all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. This includes 
the transfer from equity of gains and losses on qualifying cash 
flow hedges of purchases of finished goods.

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on a 
weighted average cost basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

•

•

•

•
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nOTES TO THE fInanCIaL STaTEMEnTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

nOTE 1. SuMMaRy Of SIgnIfICanT 
aCCOunTIng POLICIES COnTInuED

(k) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward 
currency contracts, foreign exchange option contracts, and 
interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with foreign 
currency and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on 
which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value. Certain derivative instruments are 
also held for trading for the purpose of making short term 
gains. These derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting 
and changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the 
income statement in other revenue and expenses. Derivatives 
are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
derivatives, except for those that qualify for hedge accounting, 
are taken directly to the income statement for the year.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign 
exchange option contracts are calculated by reference to 
current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity profiles, and where applicable exercise prices. The 
fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by 
reference to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified 
as cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to variability 
in cash flows that is attributable either to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast 
transaction.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the group formally 
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
the group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge. The documentation includes identification of the 
hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature 
of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure 
to changes in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the 
hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective 
in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed 
on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been 
highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for 
which they were designated.

When accounting for foreign exchange option contracts, the 
intrinsic value of the option is the only component subject to 
the hedging relationship. The time value of money is excluded 
from the hedge relationship.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are 
accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the group’s exposure to 
variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction and that could affect profit or 
loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in income statement.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income 
statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, 
such as when hedged income or expenses are recognised or 
when a forecast purchase occurs. When the hedged item is 
the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken 
to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the 
non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to 
the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, 
or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously 
recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast 
transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected 
to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is 
accounted for as a cash flow hedge.

(l) non-current assets and disposal groups held 
 for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held 
for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction. They 
are not depreciated or amortised. For an asset or disposal 
group to be classified as held for sale, it must be available for 
immediate sale in its present condition and its sale must be 
highly probable.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent 
write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases 
in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), 
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the 
date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is 
recognised at the date of derecognition.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that 
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to 
dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or 
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The 
results of discontinued operations are presented separately on 
the face of the income statement.
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(m) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of between 2 
and 5 years.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
year-end.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no further future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset at the time of 
derecognition) is included in the income statement in the year 
in which they arise.

(n) Intangible assets - goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially 
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination shall, from the acquisition date, be 
allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the group are assigned to those 
units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which 
the goodwill is so allocated: 

represents the lowest level within the group at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; 
and 
is not larger than a segment based on either the group’s 
primary or secondary segment reporting format, 
determined in accordance with AASB 114 Segment 
Reporting. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
relates. When the recoverable amount of a cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. When goodwill forms part of a cash-generating 
unit and an operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included 
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the 
gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of 
in this manner is measured based on the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained. 

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not 
subsequently reversed.

•

•

(o) Intangible assets - other

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business 
combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is 
charged against profits in the year in which the expenditure 
is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the 
useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least 
at each year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a 
change in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income 
statement in the expense category consistent with the 
function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested 
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. 
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 
is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether 
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If 
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite 
to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset 
arising from development expenditure on an internal project 
is recognised only when the group can demonstrate the 
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and 
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to 
complete the development and the ability to measure reliably 
the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

Following the initial recognition of the development 
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so 
capitalised is amortised over the period of expected benefits 
from the related project. 

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from 
development expenditure is tested for impairment annually 
when the asset is not yet available for use, or more frequently 
when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting 
period.
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(o) Intangible assets - other continued

Research and development costs continued

A summary of the policies applied to the group’s intangible 
assets is as follows:

Brand names

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Acquired

Useful lives Indefinite

Amortisation 
method used

No amortisation

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when an indication of 
impairment exists.

Computer software

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Acquired

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation 
method used

Amortised over the useful life, not exceeding 3 years, 
on a straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when an indication 
of impairment exists. The amortisation method is 
reviewed at each year-end.

Development costs

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Internally generated

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation 
method used

Amortised over the period of expected future sales, 
not exceeding 3 years, from the related project on a 
straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when an indication 
of impairment exists. The amortisation method is 
reviewed at each year-end.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 
are recognised in the income statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

(p) Impairment of non-financial assets other than 
 goodwill

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment; 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered impairment are tested for possible 
reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have 
reversed.

(q) Interest in jointly controlled entities

The group’s investment in its jointly controlled entities is 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial report. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the jointly 
controlled entities is carried in the consolidated balance sheet 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of 
net assets of the jointly controlled entities. Goodwill relating to 
jointly controlled entities is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is not amortised. After application of the 
equity method, the group determines whether it is necessary 
to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to 
the group’s net investment in its jointly controlled entities. The 
consolidated income statement reflects the group’s share of 
the results of operations of the jointly controlled entities.

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the 
jointly controlled entities’ equity, the group recognised its 
share of any changes and discloses this in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.

The reporting dates of the jointly controlled entities and 
the group are identical and the jointly controlled entities’ 
accounting policies conform to those used by the group for 
like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

(r) Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as 
either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-
for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets 
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, 
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or 
loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The group 
determines the classification of its financial assets after initial 
recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates 
this designation at each year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the group 
commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts 
that require delivery of the assets within the period established 
generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included 
in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or 
losses on investments held for trading are recognised in profit 
or loss.
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(ii) Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
when the group has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined 
period are not included in this classification. Investments 
that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is 
computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the 
initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. This 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

(iii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative 
financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are 
not classified as any of the three preceding categories. After 
initial recognition available-for-sale investments are measured 
at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the investment is derecognised or 
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity 
is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in 
organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on 
the balance sheet date. For investments with no active 
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current market value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models.

(s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. They 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
group prior to the end of the year that are unpaid and arise 
when the group becomes obliged to make future payments 
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in trade and other payables in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised 
when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid 
or payable.

Contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised 
as an expense as they become payable.

(t) Share-based payment transactions

(i) Equity settled transactions

The group provides benefits to employees (including key 
management personnel) in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

There are currently two senior executive option plans (SEOP), 
which provides benefits to senior executives. Refer to note 30 
for details.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees 
(for awards granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested 
at 1 January 2005) is measured by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. 
The fair value has been determined by an external valuer or 
internal valuation model using a Black-Scholes or binomial 
model, further details of which are given in note 30.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of 
any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to 
the price of the shares of Housewares International Limited 
(market conditions), if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled 
(the vesting period), ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting 
date).

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative 
charge to the income statement is the product of (i) the grant 
date fair value of the award; (ii) the current best estimate of 
the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such 
factors as the likelihood of employee turnover during the 
vesting period and the likelihood of non-market performance 
conditions being met; and (iii) the expired portion of the vesting 
period.

The charge to the income statement for the period is the 
cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts 
already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding 
credit to equity.
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(t) Share-based payment transactions continued 

(i) Equity settled transactions continued

Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are 
contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards vest 
than were originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject 
to a market condition is considered to vest irrespective of 
whether or not that market condition is fulfilled, provided that 
all other conditions are satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a 
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share 
based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, 
if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the 
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share (see note 5).

(u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement 
net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured as the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract is considered to exist when the group 
has a contact under which the unavoidable cost of meeting 
the contractual obligations exceed the economic benefits 
estimated to be received. Present obligations arising under 
onerous contracts are recognised as a provision to the extent 
that the present obligation exceeds the economic benefit 
estimated to be received.

Restructuring

Provision for restructurings are recognised when the group 
has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and 
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry 
out the restructuring by:

starting to implement the plan; or
announcing its main features to those affected by it.

Warranties and faulty goods

Provision for warranty and faulty goods are recognised at 
the date of sale of the relevant products, at the group’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the group’s 
liability.

Employee leave benefits - Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised as a provision 
and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given 
to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using appropriate market yields at 
the reporting date to estimate the future cash outflows. 

(v) Borrowings

All borrowings, including bills of exchange, are initially 
recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less 
directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, borrowings, including bills of exchange, 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement 
when the liabilities are derecognised.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(w) Derecognition of financial assets and financial 
 liabilities 

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset 
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;
the group retains the right to receive cash flows from 
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in 
full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; or
the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset.

•
•

•

•

•
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When the group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to 
the extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration received that the group could be required to 
repay.

(ii) Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(x) Contributed equity

(i) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

(ii) Reserved shares

The group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired for 
later use in employee share-based payment arrangements 
(reserved shares), are deducted from equity. No gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the group’s own equity instruments.

(y) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and 
can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered 
passed to the buyer at the earlier of delivery of the goods or 
the transfer of legal title to the customer. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net 
of any trade discounts and volume rebates allowed.

Finance revenue

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective 
interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over 
the relevant period using the effective interest, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the group’s right to receive the 
payment is established.

(z) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.

(aa) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

(i) Group as a lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Any lease incentives are recognised in the income statement 
as an integral part of the total lease expense.

(ab) Income tax and other taxes

(i) Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amounts expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except:

when the deferred income tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; or
when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries or interests in jointly controlled 
entities, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

•

•
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(ab) Income tax and other taxes continued

(ii) Deferred tax continued

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred income tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss; or
when the deductible temporary difference associated 
with investments in subsidiaries or interests in jointly 
controlled entities, in which case a deferred tax asset 
is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at 
each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

Income taxes in relation to items recognised directly in equity 
are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only 
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

(iii) Tax consolidation legislation

Housewares International Limited and its wholly-owned 
Australian resident controlled entities have implemented the 
tax consolidated legislation as of 1 July 2003.

The head entity, Housewares International Limited and the 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue 
to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. 
These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand alone tax payer in 
its own right.

•

•

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, 
Housewares International Limited also recognises: 

(a) the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax 
 assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
 credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
 consolidated group; and

(b) assets or liabilities arising for Housewares International 
 Limited under the tax funding agreement as amounts 
 receivable from or payable to other entities in the group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements 
with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the group. 

(iv) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST) or value added tax 
(VAT) except:

where the GST/VAT incurred on the purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the GST/VAT is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables, which are stated with the 
applicable amount of GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis and the GST/VAT component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the 
amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

(ac) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any 
costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

cost of servicing equity (other than dividends);
the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated 
with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 
recognised as expenses; and
other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses 
during the period that would result from the dilution of 
potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element. 

(ad) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and 
repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

•

•

•
•

•
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

nOTE 2. REvEnuE anD ExPEnSES fROM 
COnTInuED OPERaTIOnS

(a) Revenue

Sale of goods 425,255 372,807 - -

Dividends – Subsidiaries - - 10,714 4,322

Total revenue 425,255 372,807 10,714 4,322

(b) Cost of sales

Costs of inventories recognised as an expense [includes write-down 
of inventory to net realisable value (note 9)] 264,859 231,608 - -

Costs of delivering goods to customers 17,768 15,129 - -

Rebates paid/payable to customers 15,896 13,896 - -

Warranty provision 8,302 8,138 - -

Total cost of sales 306,825 268,771 - -

(c) Other income

Other income 306 271 - -

Total other income 306 271 - -

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation – plant & equipment 2,730 2,624 - -

Amortisation – capitalised software 705 224 - -

Amortisation – development costs 2(h) 1,840 1,137 - -

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 5,275 3,985 - -

(e) Lease payments and other expenses included in 
     income statement

Included in premises, lease & utilities expense:

Minimum lease payments – operating lease• 9,514 7,523 - -

Included in other expenses:

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment• 7 196 - -

Bad and doubtful debts• 514 805 - -

Net foreign exchange gains• (1,840) (1,243) - -

Other product related costs• 1,279 940 - -

(f) Employee benefits expense

Wages & salaries, leave and other employee related benefits 45,699 40,302 - -

Defined contribution plan expense 1,821 1,639 - -

Share-based payments (benefit)/expense (45) 209 (45) 209

Total employee benefits expense 47,475 42,150 (45) 209
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

Note 2. ReveNue aNd expeNses fRom 
coNtiNued opeRatioNs coNtiNued 

(g) finance costs, net 

Finance costs paid or payable on borrowings and bank overdrafts:

- interest 4,991 4,160 - 3

- other borrowing costs 981 929 - -

Finance revenue (648) (337) (76) (14)

Total finance costs, net 5,324 4,752 (76) (11)

(h) Research and development costs

Amortisation of previously capitalised development costs included in 
amortisation expense 2(d) 1,840 1,137 - -

Research and development costs charged directly to the income 
statement 4,926 4,445 - -

Total research and development costs 6,766 5,582 - -

Note 3. iNcome tax

The major components of income tax expense are:

income statement

Current income tax

Current income tax charge 3,328 4,878 23 3

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (989) (210) - -

Deferred income tax

Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,286 (8,934) - -

Total income tax expense/(income) reported in the income 
statement 5,625 (4,266) 23 3

Represented by:

- significant items in continued operations - (1,368) - -

- continuing operations 5,834 6,032 23 3

- significant items in discontinued operations - (5,629) - -

- discontinuing operations 4(c) (209) (3,301) - -

5,625 (4,266) 23 3

statement of changes in equity

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited 
directly to equity

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (1,400) (1,398) - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of cash flow hedges 880 (741) - -

Income tax (income)/expense reported in equity (520) (2,139) - -

Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
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Consolidated Parent

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

Note 3. iNcome tax coNtiNued

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit 
before income tax multiplied by the parent entity’s applicable income tax rate 
is as follows:

Profit from continued operations before income tax 26,826 21,512 10,835 4,124

Loss from discontinued operations before income tax (307) (59,803) - -

Accounting profit/(loss) from total operations before income tax 26,519 (38,291) 10,835 4,124

At the parent entity’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%) 7,956 (11,488) 3,251 1,237

adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years• (989) (210) - -

effect of different rates of tax on overseas income• (1,652) (1,216) - -

intergroup dividends received• - - (3,214) (1,297)

expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes• 238 8,486 - 63

other• 72 162 (14) -

Income tax expense/(income) reported in the income statement 5,625 (4,266) 23 3

Balance sheet Income statement

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June
 2007
$’000

deferred income tax

- Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

consolidated

Deferred tax liabilities

Brand names 1,875 1,875 - -

Provisions and accruals - 401 401 (325)

Development costs 2,500 1,611 (889) (620)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses 510 279 (231) 389

Foreign currency translation reserve (956) (628) - -

Other - - - 484

Gross deferred income tax liabilities 3,929 3,538

Deferred tax assets

Losses/other credits available for offset against future taxable income 8,548 7,554 994 7,522

Provisions and accruals 4,779 7,256 (2,477) 2,144

Foreign currency translation reserve 2,477 1,405 - (219)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses (617) (37) (580) 291

Employee benefits 1,260 1,369 (109) (283)

Revaluation of inventories - - - (657)

Cash flow hedge reserve 96 976 - -

Other 613 1,008 (395) 208

Gross deferred income tax assets 17,156 19,531

Deferred tax (expense)/income (3,286) 8,934
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Balance sheet Intercompany

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

Note 3. iNcome tax coNtiNued

deferred income tax continued

parent

Deferred tax liabilities - - - -

Deferred tax assets

Losses/other credits available for offset against future taxable income 8,441 7,267 1,174 7,267

Consolidated Parent

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June
2007
$’000

current income tax

Current tax asset 2,805 5,413 - 3,535

Current tax liabilities 3,245 2,087 - -

The group has tax losses arising in Australia of $7,321,000 (2007: $7,267,000), in Canada of $83,000 (2007:$265,000) and in 
Hong Kong of $24,000 (2007: $22,000) that are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in 
which the losses arose or in the case of Australia within the tax consolidated group. Other tax credits available for offset against 
future taxable profits in the Australian tax consolidated group amount to $1,120,000 (2007: $nil).

At 30 June 2008, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2007: $nil) for taxes that would be payable 
on the unremitted earnings of certain of the group’s subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities, as the group has no liability for 
additional taxation should such amounts be remitted.

tax consolidation

Housewares International Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group 
with effect from 1 July 2003.

The head entity, Housewares International Limited, and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group are required to account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand alone tax payer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Housewares International Limited also recognises: 

(a) the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed 
 from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group; and

(b) assets or liabilities arising for Housewares International Limited under the tax funding agreement as amounts receivable from or 
 payable to other entities in the group.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement supports the 
calculation of current tax liabilities (and assets) and deferred tax assets/liabilities on a stand-alone basis. Calculation is performed 
in accordance with AASB 112 Income Tax. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase/
decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, Housewares International 
Limited. 

No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of the tax sharing agreement should the head entity 
default on its tax payment obligations on the basis that the possibility of default is remote.
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Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 3. iNcome tax coNtiNued

tax consolidation continued

In preparing the accounts for Housewares International Limited for the current year, the following 
amounts have been recognised as tax-consolidation adjustments:

Total increase/(reduction) to:

current tax asset of Housewares International Limited• 23 3,567

deferred tax asset of Housewares International Limited• 1,174 7,267

inter-company assets of Housewares International Limited• (1,197) (10,834)

Note 4. discoNtiNued opeRatioNs   

(a) details of operations disposed

On 16 November 2006, Housewares International Limited publicly announced that the board of directors had retained the services 
of Gresham Advisory Partners Limited to assist in evaluating options for either productively growing the rationalised Australian 
Homewares business, including SABCO retail and commercial activities, through effective bolt-on acquisitions and/or further 
divestments. This business had been operating in a sector with reducing margins and increasing pressures from competitors.

Based on the status of the various options as at 31 December 2006, the Australian Homewares business was classified as a 
disposal group and was held for sale. 

The board of directors announced on 10 May 2007 that the sale of the SABCO retail and commercial activities was completed 
effective 30 March 2007.

On 8 June 2007 the board announced that the sale of the Australian Homewares business was approved by the company in an 
extraordinary general meeting. The effective date of this sale was 16 March 2007.

The completion of the above two disposals brings to a conclusion the company’s rationalisation and restructure of the Australian 
Homewares and SABCO businesses. 

Amounts recognised in the year ended 30 June 2008 predominantly relate to adjustments made to amounts previously presented 
as discontinued operations, the disposal of assets previously classified as held for sale and other expenses incurred prior to all 
employees being made redundant.
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 4. discoNtiNued opeRatioNs coNtiNued  

(b) assets and liabilities - operations disposed and held for sale

The major classes of assets and liabilities associated with the Homewares/SABCO 
discontinued operations are as follows:

assets

Assets classified as held for sale

Inventories - 462

Plant and equipment 14(i) - 100

Assets classified as held for sale - 562

Other assets attributed to discontinued operations

Trade and other receivables 1,000 15,094

Other assets - 140

Total assets attributed to discontinued operations 1,000 15,796

liabilities

Other liabilities attributed to discontinued operations

Trade and other payables

Provisions

181 5,756

- 3,214

Total liabilities attributed to discontinued operations 181 8,970

Net assets attributed to discontinued operations 819 6,826
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  Consolidated

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 4. discoNtiNued opeRatioNs coNtiNued 

(c) financial performance of operations disposed and held for sale 

The results of the discontinued operations are as follows:

Revenue 569 65,603

Cost of sales (357) (54,393)

Gross profit 212 11,210

Other income 199 -

Other expenses (666) (20,456)

Underlying loss before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, significant items and 
fair value adjustments

(255) (9,246)

Depreciation & amortisation expenses - (662)

Underlying loss before interest, tax, significant items and fair value adjustments (255) (9,908)

Finance costs:

  - interest income - 98

  - interest expense - (1,482)

  - other borrowing costs (52) (335)

Significant items:

  - Restructuring costs associated with discontinued operations (including redundancy costs) - (4,288)

  - Onerous lease contracts - (3,124)

Loss before tax and before fair value adjustments from discontinued operations (307) (19,039)

Tax income related to pre-tax loss, excluding significant items 3 209 3,301

Tax income related to significant items - 2,224

Loss after tax and before fair value adjustments from discontinued operations (98) (13,514)

Loss recognised on the measurement to fair value related to:

  - Trade and other receivables - (891)

  - Inventories - (5,915)

  - Other assets - (452)

  - Plant and equipment 14(i) - (2,926)

  - Intangible assets – other (development costs) 15(a)(i) - (823)

  - Intangible assets – other (computer software) 15(b)(i) - (325)

  - Intangible assets – other (brand names) 15(c)(i) - (12,898)

  - Intangible assets – goodwill 16(i) - (15,930)

  - Discontinuation of hedge accounting - (604)

- (40,764)

Tax income related to measurement to fair value - 3,405

Loss after tax and after fair value adjustments from discontinued operations  (98) (50,873)

Cents Cents

Earnings per share from loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity:

- basic earning per share (0.08) (40.92)

- diluted earnings per share (0.08) (39.53)
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 4. discoNtiNued opeRatioNs coNtiNued 

(d) cash flow information – discontinued operations 

The net cash flows of discontinued operations are as follows:

Operating activities 1,559 (8,581)

Investing activities* 7,355 6,963

Financing activities - 9,389

Net cash inflow 8,914 7,771

* Year ended 30 June 2008 investing activities includes $7,237,000 deferred proceeds from sale of business.

Consolidated

Note

30 June
2007
$’000

Consideration received or receivable:

Cash 8,137

Other receivables – deferred settlement (current) 8 7,237

Other receivables – deferred settlement (non-current)** 8 1,000

Total disposal consideration 16,374

Less net assets disposed of (16,374)

** In the year ended 30 June 2008, this amount is included within current trade and other receivables.

Consolidated

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007

$’000

Note 5. eaRNiNgs peR shaRe

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations:

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:

Net profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 20,992 16,848

Loss attributable to discontinued operations (98) (50,873)

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 20,894 (34,025)

Thousands Thousands

Weighted average number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 126,596 124,321

Effect of dilution:

share options• 2,398 4,377

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of 
dilution 128,994 128,698

Weighted average number of exercised, forfeited or expired potential ordinary 
shares included in diluted earnings per share 890 429

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the number 
of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of completion of these 
financial statements.
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June  
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 6. divideNds 

(a) dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid 
     during the year: 

Final franked dividend for 2007 of nil cents per share  
(2007: Final franked dividend for 2006 of 3.5 cents per share)

Paid in cash• (i) - 2,715 - 2,715

Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan• (ii) - 1,607 - 1,607

- 4,322 - 4,322

Interim franked dividend for 2008 of 8.5 cents per share  
(2007: nil cents per share)

Paid in cash• (i) 5,016 - 5,016 -

Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan• (ii) 5,698 - 5,698 -

10,714 - 10,714 -

Total franked dividends declared and paid during the year of 8.5 
cents per share (2007: 3.5 cents per share) 

(i) Total dividends paid in cash 5,016 2,715 5,016 2,715

(ii) Total dividends reinvested 5,698 1,607 5,698 1,607

Total dividends 10,714 4,322 10,714 4,322

(b) dividends on ordinary shares proposed and not    
      recognised as a liability:

Final unfranked dividend for 2008 is 2.0 cents per share  
(2007: nil cents per share) 2,590 - 2,590 -

Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

(c) franking credit balance

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent year are:

franking account balance as at the end of the year at 30% (2007: 30%)• 49 8,206

franking credits/(debits) that will arise from the payment/(refund) of income tax payable as at the 
end of the year

•
- (3,565)

49 4,641

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:

impact on the franking account of dividends proposed or declared before the financial report was     
authorised for issue but not recognised as distribution to equity holders during the period

•
- -

Total franking credit balance 49 4,641

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2007: 30%).
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 7. cash aNd eQuivaleNts

Cash at bank and on hand (a) 10,262 22,657 61 1

Notes:

(a) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates.

(b) At 30 June 2008, the Group had available $55,553,000 
(2007: $40,570,000) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities 
in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

(c) The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $10,262,000 
(2007: $22,657,000).

(a) Reconciliation of cash flow statement:

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following at 30 June:

Cash and cash equivalents 10,262 22,657 61 1

Bank overdraft 19 (7,056) (8,148) - -

Total cash and cash equivalents, net 3,206 14,509 61 1

(b) Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) after tax for the 
year to net cash flows from operations

Net profit/(loss) for the year 20,894 (34,025) 10,812 4,121

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 5,275 4,647 - -

Share-based payments (45) 209 (45) 209

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment 7 196 - -

Net fair value change on derivatives (426) (1,673) - -

Share of jointly controlled entities’ net (profits) and losses - (2,205) - -

Loss recognised on re-measurement to fair value - 32,901 - -

Impairment of investment in jointly controlled entity 12(c) 95 - - -

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in:

Trade and other receivables (1,130) 16,772 - -

Inventories (4,770) 2,012 - -

Prepayments (297) 2,194 - -

Other current assets 2,393 93 23 3

Non-current assets 1,955 (11,414) - -

Increase/(decrease) in:

Current liabilities 6,528 3,205 - -

Non-current liabilities 928 (121) - -

Net cash from operating activities 31,407 12,791 10,790 4,333

(c) disclosure of financing facilities

Refer to note 19.
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 8. tRade aNd otheR ReceivaBles

current

Trade receivables (a) 61,548 62,146 - -

Allowance for uncollectible receivables (566) (1,053) - -

Trade receivables, net 60,982 61,093 - -

Other receivables (b) 678 3,358 10 -

Deferred settlement – discontinued operations 4(d) 1,000 7,237 - -

Related party receivables:

- inter-company receivables (controlled entities) (c) - - 59,911 50,716

Total current trade and other receivables 62,660 71,688 59,921 50,716

Non-current

Deferred settlement – discontinued operations 4(d) - 1,000 - -

Total non-current trade and other receivables - 1,000 - -
 
Notes:

(a) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. An allowance for uncollectible receivables 
 is made when there is objective evidence on a case by case basis that a trade receivable is impaired. An allowance of 
 $514,000 (2007: $1,446,000) has been recognised by the group as an expense in ‘other expenses’ for the current year 
 for specific debtors for which such evidence exists. The amount of the allowance/impairment loss has been measured as the 
 difference between the carrying amount of the trade receivables and the estimated future cash flows expected to be received 
 from the relevant debtors.

Movements in the allowances for uncollectible receivables are as follows:

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 1,053 1,230 - -

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary - 252 - -

Charge for the year 514 1,446 - -

Net foreign exchange (21) (31) - -

Amounts utilised (980) (1,844) - -

Balance at end of year 566 1,053 - -
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 8. tRade aNd otheR ReceivaBles coNtiNued

At 30 June 2008 an ageing analysis of those trade receivables which are past 
due but not impaired are as follows:

1 – 30 days overdue 8,685 5,061 - -

31 – 60 days overdue 1,027 2,539 - -

61+ days overdue 303 542 - -

Total past due but not impaired 10,015 8,142 - -

Trade receivables past due but not impaired amount to $10,015,000 (2007: $8,142,000). Of this balance, $3,642,000 (2007: 
$216,000) is covered by insurance to be used in the event of default of payment. In all instances each operating unit has been in 
contact with the relevant debtor and is satisfied that payment will be received in full. 

Balances within other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these balances will be 
received when due.

(b) Non-trade other receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms between 30 and 60 days.

(c) Inter-company receivable balance between Housewares International Limited (Parent) and its controlled entities are unsecure 
 and non-interest bearing, and are repayable on demand.     

The carrying value and estimated net fair values of the trade and other receivables is assumed to approximate their fair value, 
being the amount at which the asset could be exchanged between willing parties.

Details regarding the effective interest rate and credit risk of current receivables are disclosed in note 26.

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 9. iNveNtoRies

Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value) (a) 65,329 68,776 - -

Stock in transit (at cost) 15,455 11,718 - -

Total inventories 80,784 80,494 - -

Notes:

(a) Total net finished goods provision movements recognised in the income statement totalled a $93,000 credit (2007: $4,427,000 
 net inventory write-down expense) for the group. This net credit is included in the cost of sales line in the cost of inventories 
 (2007: included in the cost of sales line item in the cost of inventories or as part of the fair value inventory adjustment of the  
 discontinued operations).



HWI annual report 2008 49

Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 10. otheR fiNaNcial assets

derivative assets:

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 84 - - -

Foreign exchange option contracts – cash flow hedges 61 - - -

Interest rate swap contracts – held for trading 877 277 - -

Total other financial assets 1,022 277 - -

Notes:

Derivative assets represent the fair value receivable arising from 
forward exchange contracts, foreign exchange option contracts, and 
interest rate swap contracts disclosed in note 21.

Note 11. otheR assets

Prepayments 1,858 1,561 - -

Total other assets 1,858 1,561 - -

Note 12. iNvestmeNt iN joiNtly coNtRolled 
eNtities

Investment in jointly controlled entities (c) - 95 - -

Ownership interest % held 
by consolidated group

Note Balance date

30 June 
2008  

%

30 June 
2007  

%

HWI China Limited (i) 30 June 50.0 50.0

	 	 	 	 	
Notes:

(i) HWI China Holdings Limited has a 50% interest in HWI China Limited, which is a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong. 
 HWI China Limited was previously principally involved in the shipping administration, quality control, and factory sourcing and 
 liaison services. This service was discontinued following the disposal of the Australian Homewares business and an impairment 
 loss of $95,000 was recognised during the year relating to this investment.

From 1 January 2007, HWI Canada Inc. has a 100% (previously 50%) interest in Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. (“Anglo”), 
which is a Canadian limited liability partnership. From 1 January 2007, the results of Anglo form part of the consolidated group 
and are no longer equity accounted.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 12. iNvestmeNt iN joiNtly coNtRolled eNtities coNtiNued

The following table illustrates summarised financial information relating to the group’s investment in its 
jointly controlled entities:

(a) share of jointly controlled entities’ balance sheet:

Current assets - 1,097

Non-current assets - 38

Total assets - 1,135

Current liabilities - (1,040)

Non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities - (1,040)

Net assets - 95

(b) share of jointly controlled entities’ income statement:

Income - 17,393

Expenses - (15,196)

Profit before income tax - 2,197

Income tax benefit - 8

Profit after income tax - 2,205

(c) carrying amount of investment in jointly controlled entities:

Balance at beginning of year 95 8,760

Change in exchange rates on opening balance - (1,252)

Share of jointly controlled entities profits - 2,205

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities - (2,174)

Ceasing to be an equity accounted investment - (7,444)

Impairment recognised (95) -

Balance at end of the year - 95

(d) Retained profits of the consolidated entity attributable to the jointly controlled 
     entities

Balance at the beginning of the year 110 595

Share of the jointly controlled entities profits - 2,205

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities - (2,174)

Ceasing to be an equity accounted investment - (516)

Balance at the end of the year 110 110

(e) share of jointly controlled entities commitments

The jointly controlled entity has no commitments (2007: nil).
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Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 13. iNvestmeNts iN coNtRolled eNtities

Investments in controlled entities at cost comprise:

Investments in controlled entities 29 - - 69,429 69,429

Note 14. plaNt aNd eQuipmeNt

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 28,603 30,472 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (19,096) (19,938) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 9,507 10,534 - -

At the end of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 30,211 28,603 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (21,108) (19,096) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 9,103 9,507 - -

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 9,507 10,534 - -

Additions 2,717 4,701 - -

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 27(a) - 830 - -

Disposal - discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) - (2,926) - -

Assets included in discontinued operations held for sale 4(b) - (100) - -

Disposals (71) (520) - -

Depreciation – continuing operations 2(d) (2,730) (2,624) - -

Depreciation – discontinuing operations - (203) - -

Net exchange difference (320) (185) - -

Carrying amount at the end of year 9,103 9,507 - -

Note 15. iNtaNgiBle assets - otheR

Development costs (a) 8,334 5,372 - -

Capitalised software (b) 1,147 1,277 - -

Brand names (c) 31,803 31,803 - -

Total intangible assets - other 41,284 38,452 - -

Notes:

Development costs are internally generated and have been capitalised at cost. This intangible asset has been assessed as having 
a finite life and is amortised using the straight-line method over a maximum period of 3 years. If an impairment indication arises, 
the recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower 
than the carrying amount.

Capitalised software is purchased computer software that has been capitalised into other intangible assets at cost.

Brand names include intangible assets acquired through previous business combinations. These intangible assets have been 
determined to have indefinite useful lives and the cost model is utilised for their measurement. These assets were tested for 
impairment as at 30 June 2008 (see note 17).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 15. iNtaNgiBle assets - otheR coNtiNued

(a) development costs

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 7,282 5,017 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,910) (876) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 5,372 4,141 - -

At the end of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 12,084 7,282 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (3,750) (1,910) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 8,334 5,372 - -

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 5,372 4,141 - -

Additions – internal development 4,802 3,344 - -

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) - (823) - -

Amortisation – continuing operations 2(d) (1,840) (1,137) - -

Amortisation – discontinuing operations - (153) - -

Carrying amount at the end of year 8,334 5,372 - -

(b) computer software

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 2,859 2,597 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,582) (1,378) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 1,277 1,219 - -

At the end of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 3,375 2,859 - -

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,228) (1,582) - -

Net carrying amount (i) 1,147 1,277 - -

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 1,277 1,219 - -

Additions 680 896 - -

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 27(a) - 104 - -

Amortisation – continuing operations 2(d) (705) (224) - -

Amortisation – discontinuing operations - (300) - -

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) - (325) - -

Net exchange difference (105) (93) - -

Carrying amount at the end of year 1,147 1,277 - -
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Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 15. iNtaNgiBle assets - otheR coNtiNued

(c) Brand names

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 31,803 44,701 - -

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Net carrying amount (i) 31,803 44,701 - -

At the end of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 31,803 31,803 - -

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Net carrying amount (i) 31,803 31,803 - -

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 31,803 44,701 - -

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) - (12,898) - -

Carrying amount at the end of year 31,803 31,803 - -

Note 16. iNtaNgiBle assets – goodwill

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 24,588 32,799 - -

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Net carrying amount (i) 24,588 32,799 - -

At the end of the year

At Cost (gross carrying amount) 24,588 24,558 - -

Accumulated impairment - - - -

Net carrying amount (i) 24,588 24,558 - -

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 24,588 32,799 - -

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) - (15,930) - -

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 27(a) - 7,689 - -

Carrying amount at the end of year 24,588 24,558 - -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note 17. impaiRmeNt testiNg of goodwill aNd iNtaNgiBles with iNdefiNite lives

Goodwill and brand names acquired through business combinations have been allocated to 5 individual cash generating units for 
impairment testing as follows: 

Breville Pty Ltd (Australia)     

Metro/Thebe, Inc. (United States of America)     

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. (Canada)     

Breville NZ Ltd (New Zealand)     

HWI International Ltd (Asia)     

In all cases the recoverable amount of the individual cash generating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation 
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior management.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 14.1% representing the weighted average cost of capital (2007: 13.7%) and 
cash flows beyond the approved budgets are extrapolated using a 2.0% growth rate (2007: 2.5%), which is the same as the long-
term average growth rate for the wholesale consumer products industry generally.

Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June
 2007
$’000

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June
 2007
$’000

carrying amount of goodwill and brand names 
allocated to each of the cash generating units

Breville Pty Ltd

- goodwill 8,209 8,209 - -

- brand names with indefinite useful lives 31,803 31,803 - -

40,012 40,012 - -

Metro/Thebe, Inc.

- goodwill 5,843 5,843 - -

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.

- goodwill 27(a) 7,689 7,689 - -

Breville NZ Ltd

- goodwill 981 981 - -

HWI International Ltd

- goodwill 1,836 1,836 - -

All cash generating units

- goodwill 16 24,558 24,558 - -

- brand names with indefinite useful lives 15(c) 31,803 31,803 - -

Total carrying amount of goodwill and brand names 56,361 56,361 - -

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations for the cash generating units for 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections when determining the 
value in use of the cash generating units.

Budgeted gross margins – the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is based on past 
performance and expectations for the future. 

Bond rates – the yield on a ten-year government bond rate at the beginning of the budgeted year is used.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 18. tRade aNd otheR payaBles

current

Trade payables – unsecured (a) 48,878 44,618 - -

Employee benefits 31(a) 3,188 3,545 - -

Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (b) - 392 - -

Total current trade and other payables 52,066 48,555 - -

terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(a) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(b) At 30 June 2007, the consolidated entity had a deferred cash settlement representing the remaining consideration payable 
 for the acquisition of the business for Britette Australia Pty Ltd (refer note 27(b) for details). This amount was paid during the 
 year ended 30 June 2008.

The carrying value and estimated net fair values of the trade and other payables is assumed to approximate their fair value, being 
the amount at which the liability could be settled in a current transaction between willing parties.

Details regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure are disclosed in note 26.

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 19. BoRRowiNgs

current

Bank overdrafts – on demand 7(a) 7,056 8,148 - -

Other loans:

- Bills of exchange/cash advance facilities 16,179 50,510 - -

- Term loan 33 439 - -

Total current borrowings 23,268 59,097 - -

Non-current

Other loans:

- Bills of exchange 30,000 35,000 - -

- Term loan 334 414 - -

Total non-current borrowings 30,334 35,414 - -

terms and conditions    
Financing facilities are provided by various banks. During the second half of the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the group 
entered into a revised facility agreement with Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) enabling all jurisdictions to 
borrow under the one global facility. By 31 October 2008, it is a requirement of the revised facility agreement that all bank facilities 
currently held with financial institutions other than ANZ must be cancelled and transferred to ANZ. This facility is subject to a 
number of revised financial covenant undertakings which are more commensurate with the restructured continuing business.
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Note 19. BoRRowiNgs coNtiNued

terms and conditions continued

The Australia and New Zealand financing facilities are secured 
by a first ranking fixed and floating registered charge (or 
general security for Breville NZ Ltd), over all the assets and 
undertakings of Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd, 
Breville Holdings Pty Ltd, Breville R&D Pty Ltd and Breville NZ 
Ltd and are guaranteed by Housewares International Limited. 

The Hong Kong facility is secured via a security agreement 
over the assets and undertakings of HWI International Ltd.

Until such time as all financing facilities are transferred to 
ANZ, the USA facilities (with City National Bank) continue to 
be secured by a first priority security interest over the assets 
of Metro/Thebe, Inc. in favour of City National Bank, and the 
Canadian facilities (with HSBC) continue to be secured by a 
moveable hypothec over all the assets of Anglo-Canadian 
Housewares, L.P. in favour of HSBC. Once transferred to ANZ, 
a security agreement in favour of ANZ will then be in existence 
over the assets and undertakings of Metro/Thebe, Inc. only.

Borrowings include Australian dollar, US dollar, Canadian 
dollar and New Zealand dollar denominated amounts.

Notes 21(iv) and 26 specify interest rate details relating to the 
group’s borrowings.

Bank covenants 

ANZ

In the prior corresponding period, the disposal of the 
Australian Homewares and Sabco cleaning businesses 
resulted in significant asset write downs and other related 
charges which resulted in an event of default and a financial 
covenant review event under the terms of the then existing 
facility agreement with ANZ. The ANZ agreed in writing, pre 
30 June 2007, to waive the breach of financial covenant 
undertakings and any other event of default arising from the 
above divestments that occurred in the period. 

Subsequent to 30 June 2007 but prior to the quarter ended 
30 September 2007, ANZ confirmed an amendment to the 
financial covenant undertakings reflecting the restructured 
group following the above divestments. These amendments 
have ensured that no event of default has occurred during 
the year ended 30 June 2008. The revised facility agreement 
entered into during the second half of financial year ended 
30 June 2008 has a number of revised financial covenant 
undertakings none of which have been breached at 30 June 
2008.

City National Bank

In the prior corresponding period, Metro/Thebe, Inc. a 
controlled entity within the group, failed to comply with certain 
requirements of their banking agreement with City National 
Bank, which resulted in an event of default. Subsequent to 
year end the bank agreed in writing to waive the event of 
default. As a result the group classified this debt at 30 June 
2007 of $16,463,000 as a current liability.

At various times during the year ended 30 June 2008 prior 
to the amended ANZ global facility, Metro/Thebe, Inc. 
failed to comply with certain requirements of their banking 
arrangement which resulted in an event of default. In all 
cases, the bank subsequently agreed to waive the event of 
default. There has been no event of default for the quarter 
ended 30 June 2008. 

Bills of exchange/cash advance facilities

Bills of exchange/cash advance facilities outstanding at 
balance date have maturities ranging from 1 to 3 months 
with effective interest rates of 3.1% to 7.9% (2007: 6.4% to 
7.8%).

fair value     

The carrying value and estimated net fair values of the 
borrowings is assumed to approximate their fair value, being 
the amount at which the liability could be settled in a current 
transaction between willing parties. Details regarding interest 
rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk are disclosed in note 
26.
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Consolidated

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 19. BoRRowiNgs coNtiNued

financing facilities available

At reporting date, the following financial facilities have been negotiated and were available to 
the group:

Net facilities used at the reporting date (a) 73,969 110,885

Net facilities unused at the reporting date (b) 77,965 80,376

Total facilities (c) 151,934 191,261

(a) facilities used at the reporting date: 

- Bills of exchange facility/cash advance facilities 43,937 69,900

- Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency) 7,052 7,984

- Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts 1,133 7,360

- Business transactions facility 666 445

- Working capital/documentary credit 4,983 21,061

- Interest rate swap 25,000 25,000

- Other facilities 1,460 1,792

Total facilities used as at reporting date 84,231 133,542

Cash offset (10,262) (22,657)

Net facilities used as at reporting date 73,969 110,885

(b) facilities unused at the reporting date:

- Bills of exchange facility/cash advance facilities 32,831 8,600

- Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency) 9,638 6,287

- Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts 13,084 25,683

- Business transactions facility 440 3,175

- Working capital/documentary credit 10,845 13,441

- Interest rate swap - -

- Other facilities 865 533

Total facilities unused as at reporting date 67,703 57,719

Cash offset 10,262 22,657

Net facilities unused as at reporting date 77,965 80,376

(c) total facilities:

- Bills of exchange facility/cash advance facilities 76,768 78,500

- Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency) 16,690 14,271

- Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts 14,217 33,043

- Business transactions facility 1,106 3,620

- Working capital/documentary credit 15,828 34,502

- Interest rate swap 25,000 25,000

- Other facilities 2,325 2,325

Total facilities 151,934 191,261
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007

$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 20. pRovisioNs

current

Warranty and faulty goods 1,940 1,872 - -

Employee benefits – long service 31(a) 913 1,066 - -

Onerous lease contracts 869 914 - -

Total current provisions (i) 3,722 3,852 - -

Non-current

Onerous lease contracts 2,072 2,210 - -

Employee benefits – long service 31(a) 746 637 - -

Total non-current provision (i) 2,818 2,847 - -

Consolidated

Warranty 
and faulty 

goods

Employee 
benefits - 

long service

Onerous 
lease 

contracts Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(i) movement in provisions

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year:

Current 1,872 1,066 914 3,852

Non-current - 637 2,210 2,847

Total 1,872 1,703 3,124 6,699

Movement in provisions during the year:

Additional provisions made in the year 7,319 267 300 7,886

Amounts utilised during the year (7,145) (299) (483) (7,927)

Net exchange differences (106) (12) - (118)

Net movement 68 (44) (183) (159)

Carrying amount at the end of the year:

Current 1,940 913 869 3,722

Non-current - 746 2,072 2,818

Total 1,940 1,659 2,941 6,540

There were no movements in provisions in the parent entity’s accounts during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.
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Note 20. pRovisioNs coNtiNued

(a) warranty and faulty goods

A provision for warranty and faulty goods represents the present value of the best estimate of the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits expected that will be required for warranty and faulty goods claims on products sold. This estimate is based on the 
historical trends experienced on the level of repairs and returns. It is expected that these costs will be incurred in the next year. 
Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranty and faulty goods were based on the level of warranty and faulty goods 
claims experienced during the last year.

(b) employee benefits – long service

The provision for employee benefits represents the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using appropriate market yields at the 
reporting date to estimate the future cash outflows.

(c) onerous lease contracts

The provision for onerous lease contracts represents the present value of the future lease payments that the consolidated entity 
is presently obligated to make in respect of onerous lease contracts under non-cancellable operating lease agreements, less 
revenue expected to be earned on the lease including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where applicable. The estimate may 
vary as a result of changes in the utilisation of the leased premises and sub-lease arrangements where applicable.

Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007

$’000

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June
 2007

$’000

Note 21. otheR fiNaNcial liaBilities 

derivative liabilities:

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges (i) 424 3,201 - -

Forward exchange contracts – held for trading (ii) - 89 - -

Total other financial liabilities 424 3,290 - -

 
(a) instruments used by the group

Derivative financial instruments are used by the group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposures to fluctuations 
in interest and foreign exchange rates and to trade in short-term movements in exchange rates. There were no derivative financial 
instruments used by the Parent and as such all of the following disclosure relates to the group only.

(i) Forward exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

The majority of the group’s inventory purchases from suppliers are denominated in US dollars. In order to manage exchange rate 
movements and to manage the inventory costing process, the group has entered into forward exchange contracts to purchase 
US$. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted purchases and they are timed to mature when settlement of 
purchases are scheduled to be made.
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Note 21. otheR fiNaNcial liaBilities coNtiNued 

(a) instruments used by the group continued

(i) Forward exchange contracts - cash flow hedges continued
The cash flows are expected to occur between 0-3 months from 1 July 2008 (2007: 1-9 months) and the cost of sales within the 
income statement will be affected in the next financial year as the inventory is sold. At balance date, the details of outstanding 
contracts are:

30 June 2008       30 June 2007

A$’000

Average 
exchange 

rate A$’000

Average
 exchange 

rate

Buy US$ / Sell Australian $

Buy US$ - maturity 0-3 months (2007: 1-9 months) 10,947 0.9135 50,651 0.7996

Buy US$ / Sell New Zealand $

Buy US$ - maturity 0-3 months (2007: 1-9 months) 2,112 0.7525 6,735 0.7020

Buy US$ / Sell Canadian $

Buy US$ - maturity 0-3 months (2007: nil) 6,705 0.9907 - -

The cash flow hedges of the forecast purchases are considered to be highly effective and any gain or loss on the contracts is 
taken directly to equity. When the inventory is received the amount recognised in equity is adjusted to the inventory account in 
the balance sheet. During the year $6,475,000 (2007: $6,103,000) was transferred to inventory in respect of the group. In addition 
during the year $3,503,000 (2007: $8,665,000) was charged to equity in respect of the group. 

(ii) Forward exchange contracts - held for trading

The group has entered into forward exchange contracts which are economic hedges but do not satisfy the requirements for 
hedge accounting. The group has the following contracts outstanding at balance date:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

A$’000

Average 
exchange 

rate A$’000

Average 
exchange 

rate

Buy US$ / Sell Canadian $

US dollar - - 2,442 0.9058

These contracts are fair valued by comparing the contracted rates for contracts with the same length of maturity. All movements 
in fair value are recognised in the profit or loss in the period they occur. The net fair value losses on foreign exchange derivatives 
during the year were $52,000 for the group (2007: $89,000 gain).

(iii) Foreign exchange option contracts – cash flow hedges

In order to manage exchange rate movements and to manage the inventory costing process, the group also enters into foreign 
exchange option contracts to purchase US$. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted purchases and they are 
timed to mature in the quarter when settlements of purchases are scheduled to be made. The cash flows are: expected to occur 
between 4 – 5 months from 1 July 2008. At 30 June 2007, the group held no foreign exchange option contracts designated as 
hedges of forecast purchases from suppliers.

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

A$’000

Average 
exchange 

rate A$’000

Average 
exchange

 rate

Summary of foreign exchange option contracts

Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar 10,071 0.8937 - -

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollar 868 0.7325 - -

The cash flow hedges of the forecast purchases are considered to be highly effective and any gain or loss on the intrinsic value of 
the contracts is taken directly to equity. Any changes in the time value of money are recognised in the income statement. During 
the year $120,000 expense (2007: Nil) was transferred to the income statement.
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Note 21. otheR fiNaNcial liaBilities coNtiNued

(a) instruments used by the group continued

(iv) Interest rate swaps – held for trading
Borrowings of the group currently bear an average variable interest rate including margin of 7.5% (2007: 6.8%). In order to protect 
against rising interest rates the group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it has a right to receive interest at 
variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. 

At 30 June 2008, the group had interest rate swap agreements in place with a notional amount of $25,000,000 (2007: 
$25,000,000) whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the BBSW on the notional amount, and pays an average fixed rate 
of interest of 6.59% (2007: 6.59%). Swaps in place cover approximately 58% (2007: 35%) of the net borrowings. The swaps 
are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its bills of exchange. In 2008, a gain of $600,000 (2007: 
$217,000 gain) is included in the income statement in respect of these contracts.

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 120 days. The swaps are measured at fair 
value and all gains and losses are taken directly to the income statement.

Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June
 2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

At 30 June 2008, the notional principal amounts and period of expiry 
of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

<1 year - - - -

1-2 years - - - -

2-3 years - - - -

3-4 years 25,000 - - -

4-5 years - 25,000 - -

25,000 25,000 - -

Note 22. issued capital

Ordinary shares – issued (a) 139,109 131,570 139,109 131,570

Ordinary shares – reserved under SEOP (b) (1,545) (857) (1,545) (857)

Total contributed equity 137,564 130,713 137,564 130,713

Effective 1 July 1998, the then applicable Corporations legislation abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value 
shares. Accordingly, the Parent does not have authorised capital, nor par value, in respect of its issued shares.

Ordinary shares issued and reserved under the senior executive option plan (SEOP) have the right to receive dividends as 
declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person 
or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Parent

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Note
Number of 

shares $’000
Number of

shares $’000

Note 22. issued capital coNtiNued

(a)  movements in ordinary issued shares for the   
      period:

Beginning of the year 125,017,632 131,570 123,454,185 128,894

Movements during the year

- dividend reinvestment plan (i) 3,467,024 5,698 985,447 1,607

- exercise of options – non-recourse loans (ii) 574,000 1,062 318,000 588

- exercise of options – cash (iii) 456,666 797 260,000 481

- loss on release of ordinary reserved shares (iv) - (18) - -

End of the year 129,515,322 139,109 125,017,632 131,570

(i) The shares issued pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan were issued at a nil% discount to the weighted average market 
 price of the company’s shares sold on the Australian Stock Exchange during the five consecutive trading days immediately 
 proceeding, and inclusive of, the record date (2007: 2.5% discount). Refer 6(a) for further information.

(ii) During the year 574,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares (2007: 318,000 options). The average 
 value placed on these issues was $1.85 per share (2007: $1.85 per share). Details are provided in note 30.

(iii) During the year 456,666 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares (2007: 260,000). The average value 
 placed on these issues was $1.75 per share (2007: $1.85 per share). Details are provided in note 30.

(iv) During the year 24,118 ordinary reserved shares were repaid for an average of $1.11 per share. A non-recourse loan was 
 originally granted for the exercise of these shares at $1.85 per share. The difference between the carrying value of the loan 
 and the amount repaid resulted in a $18,000 reduction to contributed equity.

Parent

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Note
Number of 

shares $’000
Number of

shares $’000

(b)  movements in ordinary reserved shares for 
      the period:

Beginning of the year (460,000) (857) (352,000) (657)

Ordinary reserved shares issued during the year (i) (574,000) (1,062) (318,000) (588)

Ordinary reserved shares repaid during the year - cash (ii) 202,118 356 210,000 388

Loss on ordinary reserve shares repaid during the year (iii) - 18 - -

End of the year (831,882) (1,545) (460,000) (857)

(i) During the year 574,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary reserved shares (2007: 318,000 options). 
 The average value placed on these issues was $1.85 per share (2007: $1.85 per share). Details are provided in note 30.

(ii)  During the year 202,118 ordinary reserved shares were repaid (2007: 210,000 options). The average value placed on these 
 issues was $1.85 per share (2007: $1.85 per share) however, the average amount repaid equalled $1.76 (2007: $1.83). Details 
 are provided in note 30.

(iii)  Included within (ii) are 24,118 ordinary reserved shares repaid during the year for an average of $1.11 per share. A non 
 recourse loan was originally granted for the exercise of these shares at $1.85 per share. The difference between the carrying 
 value of the loan and the amount repaid resulted in a $18,000 reduction to contributed equity.

(c) options over ordinary shares:

The company has two share-based payment option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company’s shares have 
been granted to certain senior executives (refer note 30). At the end of the year there were 1,310,000 (2007: 3,288,666) unissued 
ordinary shares in respect of which options were outstanding.
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Consolidated Parent

30 June
 2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 23. ReseRves

Foreign currency translation reserve (a) (9,251) (4,744) - -

Employee equity benefits reserve (b) 484 529 484 529

Cash flow hedge reserve (c) (133) (2,225) - -

Total reserves (8,900) (6,440) 484 529

(a) movement in foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of year (4,744) (1,450) - -

Currency translation differences (5,907) (4,692) - -

Tax effect of currency translation differences 1,400 1,398 - -

Balance at end of year (9,251) (4,744) - -

(b) movement in employee equity benefits reserve

Balance at beginning of year 529 320 529 320

Share-based payments (benefit)/expense (45) 209 (45) 209

Balance at end of year 484 529 484 529

(c) movement in cash flow hedge reserve

Balance at beginning of year (2,225) (551) - -

Net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 2,972 (2,415) - -

Tax effect of net (gains)/losses on cash flow hedges (880) 741 - -

Balance at end of year (133) (2,225) - -

Nature and purpose of reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

Employee equity benefits reserve

This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their remuneration. 
Refer to note 30 for further details of these plans.

Cash flow hedge reserve

This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an 
effective hedge.
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June
 2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 24. RetaiNed eaRNiNgs 

Balance at beginning of the year (7,158) 31,189 (294) (93)

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to members of Housewares 
International Limited 20,894 (34,025) 10,812 4,121

Dividends 6(a) (10,714) (4,322) (10,714) (4,322)

Balance at end of the year 3,022 (7,158) (196) (294)

 
 
Note 25. segmeNt iNfoRmatioN

The group’s operating companies are organised and managed separately according to their geographic location. As the risks 
and rates of return are predominately affected by differences in geographic locations, the group’s primary segment reporting 
format is geographic segments. As the group’s operating companies provides similar product offerings to each geographic 
location and serves the one wholesale market, there is no secondary business segment disclosed. 

Transfer prices between geographic segments are set at arms length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 
Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between geographic segments. Those transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.

geographic segments

The following table represents the revenue and profit information and certain asset and liability information regarding geographic 
segments for the year ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.
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Note 25. segmeNt iNfoRmatioN coNtiNued

Continuing operations
Discontinued 

operations
Total 

operations

Year ended 30 June 2008
Australia

$’000
New Zealand

$’000
Asia

$’000
Nth America 

$’000
Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers 194,730 32,956 55,084 142,485 425,255 569 425,824

Other income 63 - 153 90 306 199 505

Inter segment revenue 4,068 - - - 4,068 - 4,068

Total segment revenue 198,861 32,956 55,237 142,575 429,629 768 430,397

Inter segment elimination (4,068) - (4,068)

Total consolidated revenues 425,561 768 426,329

Results

Segment result      13,686 2,245 13,382 2,837 32,150 (255) 31,895

Finance costs, net (5,324) (52) (5,376)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 26,826 (307) 26,519

Income tax (expense)/benefit (5,834) 209 (5,625)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 20,992 (98) 20,894

assets and liabilities

Segment assets 143,164 11,305 2,143 73,919 230,531 1,000 231,531

Unallocated assets 19,961 - 19,961

Total assets 250,492 1,000 251,492

Segment liabilities 34,108 2,839 10,208 11,694 58,849 181 59,030

Unallocated liabilities 60,776 - 60,776

Total liabilities 119,625 181 119,806

other segment information

Capital expenditure 2,401 12 43 261 2,717 - 2,717

Depreciation & amortisation 4,300 61 25 889 5,275 - 5,275
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Note 25. segmeNt iNfoRmatioN coNtiNued

Discontinued 
operations

Total 
operationsContinuing operations

Australia
$’000

New Zealand
$’000

Asia
$’000

Nth America^ 
$’000

Total
$’000 $’000 $’000Year ended 30 June 2007

Revenue

Sales to external customers 192,458 36,553 41,413 102,383 372,807 65,603 438,410

Other income - - 241 30 271 - 271

Inter segment revenue 944 - - - 944 - 944

Total segment revenue 193,402 36,553 41,654 102,413 374,022 65,603 439,625

Inter segment elimination (944) - (944)

Total consolidated revenues 373,078 65,603 438,681

Results

Segment result      10,188 2,299 10,637 1,178 24,302 (58,084) (33,782)

Unallocated expenses (243) - (243)

Finance costs, net (4,752) (1,719) (6,471)

Share of profits of jointly controlled 
entities - - (37) 2,242 2,205 - 2,205

Profit/(loss) before income tax 21,512 (59,803) (38,291)

Income tax benefit/(expense) (4,664) 8,930 4,266

Net profit/(loss) for the year 16,848 (50,873) (34,025)

assets and liabilities

Segment assets 141,472 12,732 2,218 78,538 234,960 15,796 250,756

Investment in jointly controlled entities - - 95 - 95 - 95

Unallocated assets 24,944 - 24,944

Total assets 259,999 15,796 275,795

Segment liabilities 29,138 3,592 3,694 13,150 49,574 8,970 58,544

Unallocated liabilities 100,136 - 100,136

Total liabilities 149,710 8,970 158,680

other segment information 

Capital expenditure 2,081 18 76 2,091 4,266 435 4,701

Depreciation & amortisation 3,332 92 29 532 3,985 662 4,647

Impairment losses - - - - - (40,764) (40,764)

^ From 1 January 2007, the North America result includes the full consolidation of Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P., refer note 
27(a) for further details.
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Note 26. fiNaNcial Risk maNagemeNt oBjectives aNd policies

The group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bills of exchange/cash advance facilities, bank 
overdrafts, cash at bank, and short-term deposits.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the group’s operations. The group has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. The group 
also enters into derivative transactions, including interest rate swaps, forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange option 
contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the group’s business operations and its 
sources of finance. It is the group’s policy that no speculative trading in derivatives shall be undertaken. The main risks arising 
from the group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and credit risk. The board reviews 
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and 
equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

interest rate risk

The group is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings and derivative financial instruments. The group’s policy is to manage 
its interest rate risk using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. Fixed rate debt is achieved through the use of interest rate swaps 
in which the group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts 
calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. Group policy is to have interest rate swap coverage 
at between 25% and 70% of the total value of its net borrowings. Bills of exchange have short term fixed interest rates with 
maturities ranging between 1 and 3 months, therefore within the financial year they are exposed to interest rate risk. 

At 30 June 2008, the group has the following exposed to interest rate risk:

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Cash at bank 10,238 22,632 61 1

Bank overdraft – on demand (7,056) (8,148) - -

Bills of exchange/cash advance facilities (46,179) (85,510) - -

Term loan (367) (853) - -

Interest rate swap 25,000 25,000 - -

Net exposure (18,364) (46,879) 61 1

At 30 June 2008, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 58% (2007: 35%) of the group’s net 
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. The remaining 42% (2007: 65%) is exposed to floating rates on a principal payable of 
$18,364,000 (2007: $46,879,000), at an average rate of 7.5% (2007:6.8%), including margin. An increment of 0.5% in the market 
rate would result in an increase in net interest expense of $92,000 (2007: $234,000). A decrement of 0.5% in the market rate 
would result in a decrease in net interest expense of $92,000 (2007: $234,000).

The group’s net exposure to interest rate risk calculated as at 30 June 2008 is not representative of its exposure during the 
financial year due to seasonality in the volume of sales such that financial performance is historically weighted in favour of the 
half to 31 December. This seasonality results in a higher level of receivable and inventory balances and a consequent increase 
in working capital requirements. After taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 39% (2007: 31%) of 
the group’s average net borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. The remaining 61% (2007: 69%) is exposed to floating rates 
on an average principal payable of $39,664,000 (2007: $55,714,000), at an average rate of 7.5% (2007:6.8%), including margin. 
An increment of 0.5% in the market rate would result in an increase in net interest expense of $198,000 (2007: $279,000). A 
decrement of 0.5% in the market rate would result in a decrease in net interest expense of $198,000 (2007: $279,000).

Interest rate swap contracts outlined in notes 10 and 21, with a group fair value of $877,000 (2007: $277,000), parent nil, 
are exposed to fair value movements if interest rates change. The group classifies interest rate swaps as held for trading. 
An increment of 0.5% in the market rate would result in a decrease in net interest expense of $331,000 (2007: $415,000). A 
decrement of 0.5% in the market rate would result in an increase in net interest expense of $335,000 (2007: $421,000). 
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Note 26. fiNaNcial Risk maNagemeNt oBjectives aNd policies coNtiNued

foreign currency risk

The group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises primarily from purchases of inventory by an operating 
unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency (purchases are predominately US dollar denominated). Other foreign 
exchange risk only arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

To hedge exposure arising from the purchase of inventories in currencies other than the business unit’s functional currency, 
a combination of foreign exchange option contracts and forward exchange contracts are utilised. At inception these hedge 
contracts are designated as cash flow hedges to hedge the exposure to the variability in cash flows arising as a result of 
movements in exchange rates below contracted exchange rates for options and for movements above or below a contracted 
exchange rate for forward exchange contracts.

Also, as a result of the group’s investment in its overseas operations, the group’s balance sheet can be affected significantly by 
movements in the exchange rates of the jurisdictions it operates within. A natural hedge exists in these instances to cover any 
exposure to foreign exchange movements.

At 30 June 2008, the group has the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to foreign currency risk: 

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Cash at bank 214 96 - -

Trade and other receivables 1,476 3,037 - -

Trade and other payables (5,079) (3,215) - -

Bank overdraft – on demand - (56) - -

Highly probable forecast purchases (17,193) (55,237) - -

Forward exchange contracts 19,311 56,891 - -

Net exposure (1,271) 1,516 - -

 
At 30 June 2008, the group had hedged 76% (2007: 84%) of its foreign currency purchases that are highly probable extending to 
September 2008 (2007: March 2008). The remaining 24% (2007: 16%) is exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Of the total net exposure above, an increment of 5% in the foreign exchange rates would result in a decrease in other expenses 
of $161,000 (2007: $6,000). A decrement of 5% in the foreign exchange rates would result in an increase in other expenses of 
$178,000 (2007: $7,000).

capital management

The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business.

The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and 
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The board monitors its gearing ratio and compliance with debt 
covenants on a regular basis. The group’s gearing ratio at 30 June 2008 is 25% (2007: 38%). The gearing ratio is defined as group 
net borrowings divided by capital employed (net borrowings plus shareholders’ equity).
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Note 26. fiNaNcial Risk maNagemeNt oBjectives aNd policies coNtiNued

credit risk     

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. The credit risk on 
financial assets, excluding investments, of the consolidated entity that has been recognised on the balance sheet is the carrying 
value amount, net of any uncollectible receivables.

The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on 
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In certain instances where deemed appropriate receivable insurance is 
acquired to offset the group’s exposure to credit risk. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk across the group. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and 
certain derivative instruments, the group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. These counterparties are large multi-national banks.

Since the group trades only with recognised third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 

liquidity risk     

The group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts 
and bills of exchange. The group’s bank facilities carry between a one and three year term in Australia, and a one year term in the 
USA and Canada. As at 30 June 2008 70% of the group’s net borrowings will mature in three years (2007: 35%) and 30% (2007: 
65%) in less than one year. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows. See note 19 for details 
of available facilities.

At 30 June 2008, the remaining contractual maturities of the group’s and parent entity’s financial liabilities are:

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007

$’000

Less than 1 year 75,758 110,942 - -

Between 1 and 5 years 30,334 35,414 - -

106,092 146,356 - -

The table below analyses the group’s remaining contractual maturities by the type of financial liability. The amounts disclosed are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
and 5 years Total

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
and 5 years Total

Trade and other payables 52,066 - 52,066 48,555 - 48,555

Borrowings 23,268 30,334 53,602 59,097 35,414 94,511

Other financial liabilities 424 - 424 3,290 - 3,290

75,758 30,334 106,092 110,942 35,414 146,356
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Note 27. BusiNess comBiNatioN

(a) acquisition of the business of anglo-canadian housewares, l.p.

On 1 January 2007, the consolidated entity acquired the remaining 50% of Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P., a Canadian-based 
distribution business, from its Joint Venture Partner.

The total cost of both combinations was $15,982,000 and comprised the payment of cash and costs directly attributable to the 
combination.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

Consolidated

Recognised on 
acquisition

$’000

Carrying Value
$’000

Note

Trade and other receivables 14,023 14,023

Inventories 12,632 12,632

Other financial assets 120 120

Plant and equipment 14(i) 830 830

Intangible assets – other 15(b)(i) 104 104

Other assets 62 62

27,771 27,771

Trade and other payables (7,182) (7,182)

Borrowings (ii) (11,946) (11,946)

(19,128) (19,128)

Fair value of identifiable net assets 8,643

less retained earnings from investment in jointly controlled partnership (350)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 16(i) 7,689

15,982

(i) cost of the combinations:

Cash paid for both combinations 15,570

Direct costs relating to both combinations 412

Total cost of the combination (ii) 15,982

(ii) cash outflows for combinations are as follows:

Net borrowings assumed with the subsidiary (11,946)

Cost of the combinations (i) (15,982)

Total consolidated cash outflows (27,928)

Cash outflows in 2007 (20,825)

Cash outflows in previous years (7,103)

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the financial year ended 30 June 2007, the profit from continuing operations 
for the group would have been $23,755,000 and revenue from continuing operations would have been $388,082,000. From the 
date of acquisition to 30 June 2007, Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. has contributed a pre-tax loss of $1,831,000 to the net 
loss of the group. This is due to the seasonality in the volume of sales between the first and second half years, largely due to the 
Christmas trading period each year.
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Note 27. BusiNess comBiNatioN coNtiNued

(b) acquisition of the business of Britette australia pty ltd

On 1 December 2005, the consolidated entity purchased certain assets and liabilities of the commercial cleaning business from 
Britette Australia Pty Limited.

The total cost of the combination was $4,448,000 and comprised costs directly attributable to the combination of which 
$1,176,000 was deferred with $784,000 paid during the year ended 30 June 2007 and $392,000 was paid during the year ended 
30 June 2008.

Note 28. commitmeNts aNd coNtiNgeNcies     

operating lease commitments – group as lessee     

Operating leases are entered into mainly as a means of acquiring access to commercial property and storage facilities and the 
use of minor items of plant and equipment. Rental payments are generally fixed; however certain property leases contain a rental 
inflation escalation clause, an agreed rental percentage increase clause, a market rental review clause, or a mix of these clauses 
over the term of the operating lease.    

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:	
Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Within one year 9,824 9,963 - -

After one year but not later than five years 39,720 44,572 - -

More than five years 18,789 24,896 - -

68,333 79,431 - -

Contingent rentals are determined with reference to known existing rental payments and known rental increases during the 
existing term of each operating lease.

No purchase options exist in relation to operating leases and no operating lease contains restrictions on financing or other leasing 
activities. Certain property leases contain renewal option clauses. 

contingencies

Parent entity

The parent company has guaranteed under the terms of an ASIC class order any deficiency of funds if Thebe International Pty 
Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd are wound up. No such deficiency currently exists.

Group

The group is involved in various legal matters in the ordinary course of business. The group has disclaimed liability for, and is 
defending, all current claims.

Indemnity agreements have been entered into with certain officers of the group in respect of expenses and liabilities they incur 
in their official capacities. No monetary limit applies to these agreements and no known obligations have emerged as a result of 
these agreements.

Cross guarantees given by Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Holdings Pty Ltd and Breville 
Pty Ltd are described in note 29(a).
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Note 29. Related paRty disclosuRe

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Housewares International Limited and the subsidiaries 
listed in the following table.

Equity interest Investment

Legal entity
Country of 

incorporation Note

30 June 
2008

%

30 June 
2007

%

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Thebe International Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 69,429 69,429

Investments not held directly by Housewares International Limited:

Breville Holdings Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 - -

Breville Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 - -

Breville R&D Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 - -

Breville NZ Ltd New Zealand 100 100 - -

HWI International Ltd Hong Kong 100 100 - -

Gannet Holdings Ltd Hong Kong 100 100 - -

HWI Export Ltd Hong Kong 100 100 - -

Thebe International, Inc. USA 100 100 - -

Metro/Thebe, Inc. USA 100 100 - -

Holding HWI Canada, Inc Canada 100 100 - -

HWI Canada, Inc Canada 100 100 - -

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. Canada 100 100 - -

HWI China Holdings Limited Hong Kong 100 100 - -

69,429 69,429

Housewares International Limited, a company incorporated in Australia is the ultimate parent of the group.

(a) entities subject to class order relief

Pursuant to class order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty 
Ltd from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.

As a condition of the class order, Housewares International Limited and Thebe International Pty Ltd, entered into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee on 4 November 1999. This deed was subsequently assumed by Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd under 
an assumption deed dated 19 December 2001. The effect of the deed is that Housewares International Limited has guaranteed 
to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of either controlled entity or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms 
of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee 
in the event that Housewares International Limited is wound up or if it does not meet its obligation under the terms of overdrafts, 
loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee.

The entities comprising the class order “closed group” are Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville 
Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd. The consolidated income statement and balance sheet of the entities that are members of 
the “closed group” are as follows:
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Closed group

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 29. Related paRty disclosuRe coNtiNued

(i) Consolidated balance sheet for class order closed group

current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,166 19,419

Trade and other receivables 43,819 62,105

Inventories 38,752 35,273

Other financial assets 900 277

Current tax asset - 3,535

Other assets 748 464

Total current assets 91,385 121,073

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables - 1,000

Other financial assets 26,646 18,386

Plant and equipment 6,469 6,353

Intangible assets 50,959 48,199

Deferred tax assets 13,223 14,386

Total non-current assets 97,297 88,324

Total assets 188,682 209,397

current liabilities

Trade and other payables 48,424 36,526

Borrowings 99 34,900

Other financial liabilities 416 2,675

Provisions 2,709 2,862

Total current liabilities 51,648 76,963

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 30,000 35,000

Deferred tax liabilities 4,517 3,643

Provisions 2,730 2,847

Total non-current liabilities 37,247 41,490

Total liabilities 88,895 118,453

Net assets 99,787 90,944

equity

Issued capital 137,564 130,713

Reserves (2,118) (1,916)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 29(ii) (35,659) (37,853)

Total equity 99,787 90,944
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008
Closed group

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 29. Related paRty disclosuRe coNtiNued 

(ii) Consolidated income statement for class order closed group

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax expense 14,936 (44,843)

Income tax (expense)/benefit relating to ordinary activities (2,028) 6,830

Net profit/(loss) 12,908 (38,013)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) at the beginning of the year (37,853) 4,482

Dividends paid or reinvested (10,714) (4,322)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) at the end of the year 29(i) (35,659) (37,853)
     

(a) ultimate controlling entity     

The ultimate controlling entity of the group in Australia is Housewares International Limited.    

(b) wholly owned group transactions     

During the financial period, loans were advanced and repayments received on inter-company accounts with related parties in the 
wholly owned group. These transactions were undertaken on commercial terms and conditions. The amounts due and receivable 
are set out in the respective notes to the financial statements.    

(c) key management personnel     

Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in note 32.  

Note 30. shaRe-Based paymeNt plaNs

senior executive option plan (seop1)     

An option plan exists where executives and certain members of staff of the group were issued with options over the ordinary 
shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, were issued in accordance with performance 
guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options were issued for a term of five years and 
are exercisable in equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. The exercise price of the options is equal to 
the market price of the shares on the date of grant. The options cannot be transferred and are not quoted on the ASX. There are 
no cash settlement alternatives.

second senior executive option plan (seop2)     

An option plan exists where executives and certain members of staff of the group are issued with options over the ordinary 
shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in accordance with performance 
guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options are issued for a term of four years and 
are exercisable in equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. The options vest if and when the group’s 
underlying earnings per share increase by 10% per annum compounded annually over the term. If this increase is not met within 
the three years from the date of grant, the options are forfeited. The contractual life of each option granted is four years. There 
are no cash alternatives. The options cannot be transferred and will not be quoted on the ASX.
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Note 30. shaRe-Based paymeNt plaNs coNtiNued 

options granted under the senior executive option plans

The (benefit)/expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in note 2(f).   

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of and movements in share options 
issued during the year:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Note
Number of 

options
WAEP Number of 

options
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year (a) 3,288,666 1.8498 4,806,666 1.8644

Granted during the year 1,350,000 2.3031 50,000 1.9600

Exercised during the year (b) (1,030,666) 1.8039 (578,000) 1.8500

Forfeited during the year (2,298,000) 2.0334 (990,000) 1.9383

Outstanding at the end of the year (a), (c) 1,310,000 2.0309 3,288,666 1.8498

Exercisable at the end of the year - - 895,666 1.8942

Notes:

(a) Included within this balance are nil options over shares (2007: 561,000 shares) that have not been recognised in accordance 
 with AASB 2 Share-based payments as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002. These options have not been 
 subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 2.

(b) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $2.63 (2007: $2.67).

(c)  The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2008 is represented by:

Number of options Note
Grant 
date

Vesting 
date

Expiry 
date

WAEP 
$

30,000 (i) Various 15 Apr 05 15 Apr 09 2.2900

30,000 (i) Various 15 Apr 06 15 Apr 09 2.2900

300,002 (ii) Various 7 Apr 07 7 Apr 10 1.9600

30,000 (i) Various 15 Apr 07 15 Apr 09 2.2900

300,000 (ii) Various 7 Apr 08 7 Apr 10 1.9600

66,666 (ii) 2 Nov 07 2 Nov 08 2 Nov 11 2.3600

39,999 (ii) 27 Mar 08 27 Mar 09 27 Mar 12 1.8200

299,998 (ii) Various 7 Apr 09 7 Apr 10 1.9600

66,666 (ii) 2 Nov 07 2 Nov 09 2 Nov 11 2.3600

39,999 (ii) 27 Mar 08 27 Mar 10 27 Mar 12 1.8200

66,668 (ii) 2 Nov 07 2 Nov 10 2 Nov 11 2.3600

40,002 (ii) 27 Mar 08 27 Mar 11 27 Mar 12 1.8200

1,310,000 2.0309

(i) These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the company’s shares traded on the ASX on the 
 business day immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.75.

(ii) These options may only be exercisable if the relevant underlying EPS growth rate exceeds 10%.
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note 30. shaRe-Based paymeNt plaNs coNtiNued  

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 June 2008 is between 1 and 4 years 
(2007: 1 and 3 years).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year were $1.82 to $2.36 (2007: $1.66 to $2.29).

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.53 (2007: $0.22).

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the senior executive option plans is estimated as at the date of 
grant using either a binomial or Black-Scholes option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007:

30 June 
2008

30 June 
2007

Average of 1st, 2nd & 3rd tranches:
 (Black-

Scholes)
(Black-

Scholes)

Dividend yield (%) 5.49 6.83

Expected volatility (%) 39.30 34.25

Historical volatility (%) 39.30 34.25

Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.25 5.83

Expected life of option (years) 2.5 years 2 years

Option exercise price ($) 2.36 & 1.82 1.96

Weighted average share price at grant date ($) 2.33 1.84

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

Note 31. employee BeNefits 

(a) employee benefits

The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Trade and other payables (current) 18 3,188 3,545 - -

Provisions – long service (current) 20 913 1,066 - -

Provisions – long service (non-current) 20 746 637 - -

Total 4,847 5,248 - -
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Consolidated Parent

Note

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

Note 32. key maNagemeNt peRsoNNel 

(a) compensation of key management personnel

Compensation by category: key management personnel

Short-term 4,022 3,527 - -

Post employment (i) 194 321 - -

Other long-term 18 33 - -

Termination benefits 479 731 - -

Share-based payment 34 110 - -

Total 4,747 4,722 - -

 
(i)  This includes defined contribution plans expense of $194,000 (2007: $321,000).

(b) option holdings of key management personnel (consolidated)

30 June 2008
Balance at 1 

July 2007
Granted as 

remuneration
Options 

exercised
Net change 

other #
Balance at 30 

June 2008

Vested at 30 June 2008

Total
Not

exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J Hersch 1,166,666 - (416,666) (750,000) - - - -

Executives

V Cheung 90,000 - (90,000) - - - - -

M Cohen - 100,000 - - 100,000 - - -

A Gelemanovic 100,000 - - (100,000) - - - -

P Hill - 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - - -

R Hoare 120,000 30,000 (60,000) - 90,000 60,000 60,000 -

S Khan N/A - - - 90,000 60,000 60,000 -

B Liu 100,000 - - (100,000) - - - -

M Melis 150,000 - - - 150,000 130,000 130,000 -

P Milburn 30,000 - (30,000) - - - - -

Total 1,756,666 1,130,000 (596,666) (1,950,000) 430,000 250,000 250,000 -

Includes forfeitures.#
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note 32. key maNagemeNt peRsoNNel coNtiNued

(b) option holdings of key management personnel (consolidated) continued

30 June 2007
Balance at 1 

July 2006
Granted as 

remuneration
Options  

exercised
Net change 

other #
Balance at 30 

June 2007

Vested at 30 June 2007

Total
Not 

exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J Hersch 1,166,666 - - - 1,166,666 499,999 333,333 166,666

Executives

R Carr 80,000 - - (80,000) - - - -

V Cheung 90,000 - - - 90,000 90,000 - 90,000

A Gelemanovic 100,000 - - - 100,000 33,333 33,333 -

L Jackson 100,000 - - - 100,000 33,333 33,333 -

M Kirkby 200,000 - - (200,000) - - - -

B Liu 100,000 - - - 100,000 33,333 33,333 -

M Melis 150,000 - - - 150,000 110,000 20,000 90,000

P Milburn 30,000 - - - 30,000 30,000 - 30,000

Total 2,016,666 - - (280,000) 1,736,666 829,998 453,332 376,666
        

Includes forfeitures.

Refer note 30 and remuneration report (contained within the directors’ report designated as audited) for details on the above options.

(c) shareholdings of key management personnel (consolidated) 

Ordinary shares held in Housewares International Limited (number)*

30 June 2008
Balance at  

1 July 2007
Granted as 

remuneration
On exercise of 

options Net change other #
Balance at  

30 June 2008

Directors

J Schmoll 10,000 - - 37,294 47,294

S Fisher 273 - - 15 288

S Klein 111,425 - - 5,764 117,189

J Hersch 2,143,292 - 416,666 N/A N/A

J McConnell 63,661 - - N/A N/A

Executives

V Cheung - - 90,000 - 90,000

R Hoare - - 60,000 - 60,000

S Khan N/A - - - 30,000

P Milburn 60,000 - 30,000 N/A N/A

Total 2,388,651 - 596,666 43,073 344,771

Includes instances where Housewares International Limited has provided loans to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company. 
Refer note 32(d).

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered 
into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

During the year key management personnel were eligible to acquire shares through participation in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
offered to all shareholders.

#

*

#
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Note 32. key maNagemeNt peRsoNNel coNtiNued

(c) shareholdings of key management personnel (consolidated) continued

30 June 2007
Balance at  

1 July 2006
Granted as 

remuneration
On exercise of 

options Net change other #
Balance at 

30 June 2007

Directors

J Schmoll 10,000 - - - 10,000

J Hersch 2,143,292 - - - 2,143,292

S Klein 109,081 - - 2,344 111,425

S Fisher 267 - - 6 273

J McConnell 62,847 - - 814 63,661

Executives

R Carr 47,500 - - N/A N/A

L Jackson 60,000 - - N/A N/A

M Kirkby 11,628 - - N/A N/A

P Milburn 60,000 - - - 60,000

Total 2,504,615 - - 3,164 2,388,651

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered 
into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

(d) loans to key management personnel (consolidated)

(i) Details of aggregates of loans to key management personnel are as follows:

Balance at 
beginning of period 

$’000

Balance at end 
of period 

$’000

Interest 
charged 

$’000

Interest  
not charged 

$’000

Repaid 

$’000

Number in group at
 end of period

2008 111 333 15 - (167) 3

2007 222 111 4 - (111) 1

#
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Notes to the fiNaNcial statemeNts CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Note 32. key maNagemeNt peRsoNNel coNtiNued

(d) loans to key management personnel (consolidated) continued

(ii) Details of individuals with loans above $100,000 in the reporting period are as follows:

30 June 2008

Balance at 
beginning of period

$’000

Balance at end  
of period

$’000

Interest 
charged

$’000

Interest 
not charged

$’000

Repaid

$’000

Highest owing 
in period

$’000

Executives

V Cheung - 167 8 - - 167

R Hoare - 111 5 - - 111

P Milburn 111 - - - (167) 167

30 June 2007

Balance at 
beginning of period

$’000

Balance at end  
of period

$’000

Interest
charged

$’000

Interest  
not charged

$’000

Repaid

$’000

Highest owing  
in period

$’000

Executives

L Jackson 111 - 2 - (111) 111

P Milburn 111 111 2 - - 111

terms and conditions of loans

Housewares International Limited has provided loans to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company. The loans 
were issued in accordance with the terms of the Housewares International senior executive option plan such that interest on the 
loan equals the dividends and other distributions payable from time to time on the company shares acquired with the loan.

(e) other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties

Services

Mr Klein is a partner of the legal firm Arnold Bloch Leibler, and his fees of $86,927 (2007: $73,938) are paid to Arnold Bloch 
Leibler. These fees include GST. Legal services totalling $479,434 (2007: $2,514,809), including Mr Klein’s directors fees, GST and 
disbursements were invoiced by Arnold Bloch Leibler to the consolidated group during the year. The fees paid for these services 
were all at arm’s length. In addition other recharges of legal services from non-related third-parties, such as Counsel’s fees and 
other costs, were billed during the year totalling $22,326 (2007: $469,416). 

There have been no other transactions concerning key management personnel during the year. 

Total amounts recognised at the reporting date in relation to other transactions and balances with key management personnel:

Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000

30 June 
2008
$’000

30 June 
2007
$’000Note

assets & liabilities

Current assets

Legal services associated with the business combination of the 
remaining 50% interest of the Anglo Housewares, L.P. business - 63 - -

Total assets - 63 -

Revenues & expenses

Employee expenses (directors fees) 79 67 - -

Other expenses from ordinary activities (i) 357 2,178 - -

Total expenses 436 2,245 - -

The amounts shown above are GST exclusive.

(i)   Amounts exclude recharges of non-related third-party costs.
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Consolidated Parent

30 June 
2008

$

30 June 
2007

$

30 June 
2008

$

30 June 
2007

$

Note 33. auditoR’s RemuNeRatioN 

Amounts received or due and receivable from the entity and any other 
entity in the consolidated entity:

Ernst & Young Australia – primary auditors

- an audit or review of the financial report 245,000 311,000 114,000 106,000

- other services

- tax compliance 39,000 48,000 - -

- assurance related - 30,000 - -

- non-audit related 19,000 16,000 - -

Ernst & Young Australia’s affiliates – primary auditors

- an audit or review of the financial report 175,000 125,000 - -

- other services

- tax compliance 20,000 100,000 - -

- assurance related - 2,000 - -

- non-audit related 59,000 - - -

RSM Richter LLP – other auditors (Canada only)

- an audit or review of the financial report 100,000 42,000 - -

657,000 674,000 114,000 106,000

 
Note 34. sigNificaNt eveNts afteR yeaR-eNd

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year, which significantly affected or may affect the operations of 
the consolidated entity.

The financial report of Housewares International Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008 was authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 26 August 2008.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Housewares International Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the directors: 
 
(a) the financial report and the additional disclosures included in the directors’ report designated as audited, of the    
 company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
  
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of their 
  performance for the year ended on that date; and 
  
 (ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
 payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with sections 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2008.

In the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the 
Closed Group identified in note 29(a) will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, 
by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

On behalf of the board

1.

2.

3.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

John Schmoll

Non-executive chairman

Sydney 
26 August 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT CONTINUED
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Substantial shareholders as at 3 September 2008

The following information is extracted from the company’s register of substantial shareholders:

Name
Number of ordinary 

shares
Percentage of ordinary 

shares

Lew Custodians Pty Limited 39,297,151 30.53

Harbinger Capital Partners Master Fund 1 Limited 26,029,965 20.23

Perpetual Limited and subsidiaries 17,506,899 13.60

Paradice Investment Management Pty Ltd 8,811,100 6.85

Distribution of shareholdings as at 3 September 2008

Size of holding Ordinary shareholders

1 to 1,000 385

1,001 to 5,000 919

5,001 to 10,000 422

10,001 to 100,000 395

100,001 and over 31

Total shareholders 2,152

Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable parcel 174

Voting rights

All ordinary shares issued by Housewares International Limited carry one vote per share without restriction.
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Twenty largest shareholders as at 3 September 2008

Name
Number of ordinary 

shares
Percentage of ordinary 

shares

Premier Investments Limited 32,179,977 25.00

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSI ECSA 17,621,419 13.69

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,052,186 8.59

National Nominees Limited 10,683,311 8.30

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 
(PIPOOLED account) 9,258,217 7.19

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 7,552,000 5.87

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 4,577,341 3.56

S L Nominees Pty Limited 3,711,667 2.88

ANZ Nominees Limited (cash income account) 2,509,625 1.95

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (PIIC account) 2,231,694 1.73

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,135,131 1.66

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,848,045 1.44

Nofusa Pty Limited 1,559,958 1.21

Lew Family Investments Limited 1,302,919 1.01

Mr Joseph Hersch* 1,000,000 0.78

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited (Berndale account) 648,245 0.50

Lew Family Investments Pty Limited 631,030 0.49

Malla Pty Limited 460,253 0.36

Jamber Investments Pty Limited 350,000 0.27

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty (BPB account) 322,970 0.25

Total 111,635,988 86.74

* Held under two separate HIN’s (holder identification number).
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This financial report covers both Housewares International Limited (parent) as an individual entity and the consolidated entity (group) 
comprising Housewares International Limited and its subsidiaries.

A description of the group’s operations and of its principal activities is included in the review of operations and activities in the 
directors’ report on page 11. The directors’ report is unaudited (except for the remuneration report) and does not form part of the 
financial report.

COMPANy DIRECTORy

Directors

John Schmoll

Non-executive chairman

Steven Fisher

Non-executive director

Dean Howell - appointed 31 March 2008

Non-executive director

Steven Klein

Non-executive director

Samuel Weiss - appointed 31 March 2008

Non-executive director

Joseph Hersch - retired 30 September 2007

Managing director 

John McConnell - resigned 31 March 2008

Non-executive director

Company secretary

Shiraz Khan - appointed 28 September 2007

Paul Milburn - resigned 28 September 2007

Registered office

Building 2 
1A Hale Street 
Botany NSW 2019 
Telephone (+61 2) 9384 8100

Principal place of business

Building 2 
1A Hale Street 
Botany NSW 2019 
Telephone (+61 2) 9384 8100

Company websites

www.housewares.com.au 
www.breville.com 
www.kambrook.com.au

Share register

Link Market Services Limited 
Level 12, 680 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000

Enquiries with Australia: (02) 8280 7111 
Enquiries outside Australia: (+61 2) 8280 7111 
Website: www.linkmarketservices.com.au

Auditors 

Ernst & Young 
680 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000

Solicitors

Arnold Bloch Leibler 
333 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Bankers

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited 
530 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
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